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--- On commencing at 9:04 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today we are continuing with panel 9.  Mr. De Rose, I believe you are still up.  Are there any preliminary matters before we begin?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Just two very brief preliminary matters, Madam Chair.  The first as you will see we are one body short on the panel.  So we have -- after sending e-mail correspondence out to all parties advising them and seeking any concerns, we didn't receive any, so we have moved Mr. Heard to panel 10, which will then deal with the tax matters, both from a tax loss variance account perspective and also from current tax issues.

Then the other was partly, given now the growing size of panel 10, that we thought it would be efficient -- and we have canvassed some of the parties, not all of them on this regard, but those in the room -- and we thought it would be efficient if we actually took the CWIP witnesses only, which I believe there will be just be two that will be dealing with CWIP, and have kind of 10A and 10B, so to speak, where we would move CWIP to the end, which may fit with Mr. Cherniak's timing and his availability, who is a witness for one of the intervenors on the CWIP issue.

And we are endeavouring to confirm that with Board Staff and others in terms of the logistics, but that is one thought we are now starting to do.

I don't think it will change the logistics of the hearing.  It may just make it a bit more efficient with respect to that one section and not tie up witnesses that otherwise wouldn't be involved in all of the other issues.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Thank you for that.

Mr. DeRose, go ahead.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 9, resumed


David Bell, Previously Sworn


David Halperin, Previously Sworn


Nathan Reeve, Previously Sworn
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  On Friday, we were -- I had you at tab 2 of the CME compendium.  That is K9.5.  If I can have you turn that up, and you can turn right to page 10, please.

Do you have that, Mr. Halperin?

MR. HALPERIN:  Page 10, yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  And I think just for the court reporter, you need to turn your microphone on.

MR. HALPERIN:  Is that better?

MR. DeROSE:  I saw a nod, "yes".  So now, Mr. Halperin, on page 10 you will see -- I would like to ask you some questions about the table in the middle under the section "Resource and Performance Planning Guidelines".

Now, first of all, the column that says "2009 Business Plan" with an asterisk, and at the bottom it says "before reductions", can you explain?  Is that the 2009 business plan before reductions, or does that mean the 2010 business plan before reductions?

MR. HALPERIN:  It is referring to the year 2010 in the 2009 business plan.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And as I understand it -- so the column that shows 2009 - and we'll look at nuclear operations as an example - it shows 1,610.  That number would have been subject to the Board's last case; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am just trying to think about the timing.  That would have been -- no.  That would have been the business plan developed in the fall of 2008.  It would have incorporated the OEB's rate order for 2008 and 2009 revenues.  But I -- but it is one business plan past the basis of the hearing that the 2008-2009 rates were based on.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so would the 2009 business plan be inconsistent with the Board's rate order for 2009?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  As I said, the -- this plan was -- reflected the rate order that was issued in November of 2008.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, okay.  And then next to it, you have the 2010 business plan, and that shows 1,679.

Now, do I take it that that is the number that initially went to your board of directors for approval as part of the 2009 to 2013 business plan process?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if I take you to the first sentence right at the top of the page:
"The OPG's Board approval in February of the 2009-2013 business plan incorporated a deferral of the next rate application from 2010 to 2011."


Now, if we follow -- and that is the 85 million that you have raised a number of times; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And if I look at the column under "2009 Business Plan", asterisk, the 2010 column - so for nuclear operations 1,679 and for hydro 237 - that is what Hydro -- or, sorry, not Hydro One.  That is what OPG was proposing to your board of directors, correct, initially?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  When we went to our board of directors in November of 2008, it would have contained those numbers for 2009 and 2010 indicated in the 2009 business plan.

However, at that board meeting, we identified a scenario relating to the potential deferral of the 2010 rate proposal.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And as part of that deferral, I take it your board of directors said, Go back and scrutinize to see what type of costs you can -- cost savings you can achieve in what you are proposing?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  That was part of the scenario that we actually brought forward where management indicated the need to pursue some cost reductions and to offset the deferral.

MR. DeROSE:  And did you actually propose the 85 million at that time?

MR. HALPERIN:  When we went -- we went back to our board in February.  Once the Board agreed with the deferral, we went back to the Board in February with an updated plan that incorporated the $85 million.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so, for instance, if we take the nuclear operations line, do I understand it that what you were saying to your board is, If we're going to the Ontario Energy Board, we should apply for 1,679 for nuclear operations, but if we're going to defer, we think we can get it down to 1,639?  And you gave them that choice?

MR. HALPERIN:  I wouldn't quite put it that way.  We had a plan for 2010.  Whether that would have been the ultimate number that would have been reflected in the rate proposal, I can't say at this point.

But what we did say was, we think we need to defer the rate proposal by one year, given the economic situation facing the province and our customers, and, therefore, we're making a commitment to go back in the next business planning process and reduce the current forecast we have for 2010 costs.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I just want to make sure that when we talk about these as cost reductions, these are cost reductions as compared to your initial business plan, your unapproved initial business plan; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  So, for instance, for nuclear operations, the 2010 initial plan was proposing a $69 million increase; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Over 2008 -- over 2009, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Over 2009.  And when the board of directors decided to defer the application, you managed to reduce that by $40 million to 1,639; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's the challenge we set up, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So when you're talking about a reduction, it is not a reduction from the 2009 numbers, because the result is actually a $20 million increase?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the same thing for hydro.  For hydro, you will see 2009 you had 217.  You proposed 237.  So a $20 million increase; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And then in the next column, you will see there is a $5 million reduction.  So you are only seeking a $15 million increase; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  We were forecasting an increase.  We weren't seeking anything at this point.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So when we talk about the -- is it fair for me to describe the $85 million reduction, it is not a reduction from your 2009 plans or actuals, but it is a reduction from your initial business plans for 2010 that were never approved by your board of directors?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I am going to switch gears a little bit.  I would like to just have you or help you -- well, if you could help me walk through the chronology of what happens from June 3rd, 2009.  You issue the business planning instructions.

As I understand it, the next thing that happens is your various line departments will provide you with their business plans; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And approximately when do you receive all of those business plans?

MR. HALPERIN:  In the early fall.  Typically early September.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do I -- and at that process, at that time when you receive them, is it typical that your group would review them, ask any questions, or concerns that you may have about them?

MR. HALPERIN:  Our group primarily is responsible for consolidating the plans and -- into a corporate-level overview, and assessing the implications at that level.

MR. DeROSE:  So your group would not look at them and do a reality check of whether the amounts that are being sought are or are not appropriate?

MR. HALPERIN:  Typically what has happened, we establish the guidelines early on.  And when the plans come in, we look at them to see if they've basically met the guidelines or not.

And if not, they are required to provide explanations as to why they're not able to.  We will review those for reasonableness, but in terms of delving into operational issues like trade-offs that have been made, we're not equipped to do that.

That process is carried out quite rigorously within the business unit, during their process, basically over the summer when, within the business unit, senior management of each unit is reviewing the submissions that come in from each lower-level department.  And they make the key trade-offs they need to in order to meet the guidelines.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In this case, did you go back to any -- on any of the business plans that you received, did you ask any questions that resulted in lower budgets?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am not aware.  We would review the mechanics of the costing that have been used, but typically we wouldn't go back and address specific program decisions that have been made.

MR. DeROSE:  So is that a:  No, you did not ask any Questions that led --


MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again --


MR. DeROSE:  -- to lower budgets?

MR. HALPERIN:  To the extent they met their guidelines, that's right.  We have not.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then as I understand it, the next step that presentations are prepared for the board of directors; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  The next step is the business units each provide presentations to the CEO and the CFO.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And at that stage, were there any reductions in the budgets proposed, by the CEO, or that process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, because the business unit submissions were essentially successful in achieving the guidelines that had been set out, the nature of the discussions that took place typically do not focus on the specific dollars, but they would deal more with what is in the plans, the risks that have been identified, the initiatives that have been identified to address those risks, the trade-offs that have been made between cost and work requiring to be done.

That is the kind of discussions that have typically happened.

MR. DeROSE:  So no one will look at the overall budget and determine whether it is or is not appropriate?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, we make --


MR. DeROSE:  At that level, in those meetings?

MR. HALPERIN:  At that level, no.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, when would those meetings be taking place, approximately?

MR. HALPERIN:  Typically between the second half of September and early October.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And is the next step, then, the preparation of the presentations to the OPG board of directors?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And these are the presentations at tabs 5 and 6 of the CME compendium, dated November 19th, 2009?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And on Friday, you also mentioned that at some point during this process, information is sent to the ministry to obtain their concurrence.

When would that occur?

MR. HALPERIN:  The briefing provided to the shareholder representatives takes place before the board meeting.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  So typically a couple of weeks before we are sending material off to the board of directors.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the briefing material to the ministry, is it -- it is different than the presentation to the board of directors; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  For the business units, it is probably a little more detailed.

MR. DeROSE:  And the presentation to the ministry is done at the business unit level?  Or would there be a presentation on behalf of hydro generation and another presentation on behalf of nuclear operations?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  Typically there would be a presentation on behalf of each of the three generating businesses, a presentation on the underlying sales and revenue forecast and financial overview which consolidates all of the plans into a consolidated financial outlook.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do those presentations include any type of analysis or presentation on the cost impact to customers?

MR. HALPERIN:  We typically provide a preliminary view on potential rate implications of the rollup of the business plan.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that is something that is not included in your presentation to OPG board of directors; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  I believe the financial overview to the board of directors also includes that type of information.

MR. DeROSE:  Could you show me -- let's go to tab 5.

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, it is included in the financial overview I speak of; that has not been filed here.

MR. DeROSE:  Is there a reason why it hasn't been filed?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I believe because it is -- it is a consolidation at a corporate level, and deregulated and unregulated elements are completely meshed together.  So it is not possible to file... I think we -- this is what has been addressed already.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Sorry, Mr. DeRose, your question was, again?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, we have just been told along with the presentations to the board of directors that there is a consolidated financial overview that sets out what the cost impacts are on customers.  And I understand that this is provided both to the ministry and to the board of directors.

My question was:  Is there a reason why that can't be filed with this panel?

MR. KEIZER:  My understanding is that the document contains a consolidation of the regulated side and non-regulated side of the business, and so -- and I am not sure to what extent the material can be extracted.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I would suggest that it should either be filed in a redacted form or in a confidential form.

If you are providing -- I guess, Members of the Board, my position would be that obviously our concern is what is the analysis done of customer impacts in this process, and this is the first document that we have heard about that has been presented to the board of directors and to the ministry on that very issue.

And it is clearly relevant to not only our line of questioning, but also to your statutory mandate in balancing the competing interests of the cost of running a business in a safe and reliable way, and protecting the interests of consumers.

So I would ask that an undertaking be given to provide both the presentation to the ministry, and to the board of directors, and that if it has to be filed in a confidential form, we don't object to that.

MR. KEIZER:  We could –- well, one, to the extent that there is material related to the customer impact, we could extract that and provide that separately.

The concern I have with respect to some of the unregulated material or other material that has been produced, we have had, in situations in this proceeding where we produced matters in confidence, where we haven't even demonstrated or we kept it as an ongoing redaction, not filing it as evidence in this proceeding at all.

So there may be a need to do that within the context of that document.

And so I think that was one of the fundamental concerns related to it.  I think, also, that I am not sure to what extent things can be -- there are matters that are interwoven as well, so whether or not we can actually tease out those details within the context of the document, I am not sure either.

So there would be those caveats associated with it

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, why don't you take a look at that?  I think through the course of the various decisions we have already made regarding what will be confidential and what will remain redacted even in confidential versions, I think you have a good guideline to go by.

Should there be any disagreements that arise, we will deal with those in due course, and we will proceed on that basis.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.1:  to PROVIDE PRESENTATIONS TO THE MINISTRY, AND TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, IN CONFIDENTIAL FORM.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you very much.

Mr. Halperin, after the board of directors gives approval to the various business plans in November 19th, 2009, I take it that the next step is that those business plans become the basis for an application to the Ontario Energy Board; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  In the years in which that is required, yes, not every year.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, we are talking -- the presentations that were given on November 19th, that became the basis for this application; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Let me get my years straight here, because I am...  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if it helps, Mr. Halperin, on page 3 of the business planning instructions which you drafted - that is tab 2 of the CME brief --


MR. HALPERIN:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  You wrote:
"Once approved by the OPG Board of Directors, the 2010-2014 Business Plan will form the basis of our application to the Ontario Energy Board (OEB) for the determination of new rates for the output from OPG's regulated facilities for the January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2012 period."

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I can have you turn to tab 7?  Do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  We actually looked at this briefly on Friday, but this is the press release from OPG dated March 29th, 2010 in which you announced that an application will be filed; is that right?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And the third paragraph has a quote from OPG's president and CEO, Mr. Mitchell, and it reads as follows:
"We deferred our rate application once but we must go to the OEB this year to make a request for an increase in our regulated rates.  We continue to look for internal savings on top of the $85 million we've saved to date."


Now, stopping there, in March of 2010, is anyone at OPG still looking for savings on top of the $85 million?  I thought the business plans are already approved; everything is finalized; you are going forward.

MR. HALPERIN:  The business plan is approved, but that doesn't mean ongoing initiatives to review our costs and seek opportunities for reduction stop with the business plan.  Those kind of initiatives are being pursued continuously.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So now if I could have you to turn to tab 8 of the compendium, this is the non-confidential version of an interrogatory by CCC.  Do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And if I can have you turn three pages in, it is a letter dated May 5th, 2010 from Minister Duguid to OPG's president and CEO, Mr. Mitchell.  Do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  I do.

MR. DeROSE:  First of all, prior to looking in this compendium, had you seen this letter?

MR. HALPERIN:  I believe so.

MR. DeROSE:  Were you provided a letter in or around May of 2010?  Were you given a copy of it?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think I would have seen it around that time, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Would you have received a heads-up from the ministry before you got the letter?  Did you know it was coming?

MR. HALPERIN:  We were certainly aware that -- certainly from March, when we had initially introduced the application, that there was a significant increase in concern showing up in the press, customers and that, relating to a number of increases in electricity prices that were going to be affecting people during 2010.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it would be fair that this letter didn't surprise you when it came and that you
were -- first of all, it didn't surprise you when it arrived?

MR. HALPERIN:  No, it didn't.

MR. DeROSE:  And you would agree that this letter, at least in part, was prompted by public concern over energy pricing increases?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I can take you to the third paragraph of the letter, Minister Duguid writes this:
"Bearing that in mind, I would request OPG carefully reassess the contents of its rate application prior to filing with the Ontario Energy Board.  I would like OPG to demonstrate concerted efforts to identify cost saving opportunities and focus your forthcoming rate application on those items that are essential to the safe and reliable operation of your existing assets and projects already under development."


Now, just stopping there, after this letter was issued, what did you do to demonstrate concerted efforts to identify cost savings?

MR. HALPERIN:  We reviewed the business plan that we had prepared and reconfirmed our belief that this business plan was already consistent with this direction in terms of the expenditures that were included in that.

Again, the guidelines that you referred to back in June, from almost a year prior to this, identified that as an overriding concern, as the business units were to develop their business plans during 2009 for 2010 and onward.

We felt they were already challenging guidelines, and we were essentially already in compliance with this direction.  So the --


MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Halperin.

MR. HALPERIN:  I was saying so basically we felt that the plan already addressed these concerns, so we looked other ways to address the impacts on the rate application.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, we were told by the hydro planning panel and the nuclear planning panel that they weren't even asked to go back and look at their business plans.  Is that fair?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  That's what I just said, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And if you can just explain to me?  The minister is writing to you saying, Please reassess.  Why would you not feel that it is appropriate to spend the time to direct your operations, those that, as you have said, are the ones that prepare the business plans and understand what costs they can cut or can't cut, why wouldn't you say to them, Go back and see if there is anything more we can cut?  Take one more look at it.

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, we felt that the plan that we had developed to support this process had already adequately addressed that.  We had set out challenging guidelines, and there was a challenging process to meet those guidelines, but we felt we had a product and a plan that met these requirements.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So you felt it wasn't necessary to go back to the business units and ask them to take one more look at their business plans?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.  And I think just in support of that, if you refer -- I mean, the following item you have is Mr. Mitchell's response to the minister reiterating the degree of the cost reductions that the current plan had already implemented.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of between May 2010 -- actually, let me just stop there.  You have this letter coming on May 5th, 2010.  As I understand it, on May 20th there is then another meeting with OPG's board of directors; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't know the date exactly.

MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps I can help you with that.  If you can turn to the next page, it is the letter of June 24th, 2010 from Mr. Mitchell.

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Do you have that?  If you turn to the second page?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  The very bottom paragraph.

MR. HALPERIN:  Right.  It says May 20th there.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Between May 5th and May 20th, did you have -- did OPG have interaction with the ministry to talk about this letter, the May 5th letter, to say -- to explain to them what you're doing?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. DeROSE:  I take it that means you aren't aware?

MR. HALPERIN:  I wasn't involved; that's correct.  That doesn't mean it didn't occur.

MR. DeROSE:  Other than your group reviewing the application to determine whether there is any more areas of reduction that you can identify, was there other groups in OPG that you wouldn't know about doing the same thing?

MR. HALPERIN:  As I say, there are often discussions at the executive level between the president and the ministers.  I wouldn't be necessarily knowledgeable about those discussions.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I take it you weren't told about any discussions such as that?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, if we can just stay with the letter of June 24th, 2010, and if I can have you go to page 2, second-last paragraph:

"OPG's revised application extends the period over which we would recover some costs relating to our OEB decision.  This extension reduces the average increase in rates to approximately 6.2% from the previously indicated 9.6%."

So stopping there, would you agree with me that this, this reduction in the rate increase, is not a result of cost reductions but it is an extension of the time period over which you are going to recover those costs?  Is that fair?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then the very last paragraph, you say -- and it is the last sentence:

"Under separate cover, OPG's Board Chair has submitted a revised 2010-2014 Business Plan that reflects the new proposed rates to you and to the Minister of Finance for concurrence, as per our Memorandum of Agreement."

Was that -- was concurrence obtained?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  For this revised one as well?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes, it was.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do you know when it was obtained?

MR. HALPERIN:  I believe it was in June, but...

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, we have a previous undertaking where you were going to provide us with the letter of concurrence, and that was in the context of your initial approval.  To the extent that I just want to make sure that we understand that either this second concurrence should be part of that undertaking, or alternatively I would like an undertaking for this letter of concurrence, as well, so that we have the complete story.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, do you think we should give that a new number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, why don't we?  J10.2.

MR. DeROSE:  Just to be clear, I think what we are looking for is the concurrence from the Minister of Finance and Minister of Energy for OPG's revised rate application, which was approved by the board of directors on May 20th, 2010.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.2:  to PROVIDE CONCURRENCE FROM MINISTER OF FINANCE AND MINISTER OF ENERGY FOR OPG'S BUSINESS PLAN REFLECTING REVISED RATE APPLICATION.

MR. HALPERIN:  Just to clarify.  I think the concurrence -- what this –- this bottom paragraph is not saying we are asking for concurrence on the rate application.  We are asking for concurrence on a new -- a new business plan that reflects the revenues consistent with our rate application.

So basically it would have adjusted our revenues consistent with the change in the proposal.  And to the extent that impacted the business plan, that is what the concurrence was received on.

I don't think we were asking the government to concur with our rate proposal, not explicitly, but through the acceptance of the revenue forecast, it would have been implicit.

MR. DeROSE:  So you would only be getting them to concur to the revenue forecasts, not the costs side?

MR. HALPERIN:  The entire business plan.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I assume that will show up in the letter?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I can have you turn to tab 9.  This is a newspaper article from the Globe and Mail.  You will see it is dated May 6th, 2010, which is the day after you received the letter from Minister Duguid to Mr. Mitchell.  Do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  I do.
MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And if you go -- right at the bottom it has a quote from Minister Duguid, that says as follows:
"We're looking very closely at all increases in the system to ensure that we're standing up for consumers, to ensure that they're getting value for their money... We are scrutinizing any impacts on rates very closely."

Now, you have described that after that letter, your group reviewed the business plan and determined that it was good to go as filed.

Were there any other steps that you took to scrutinize the impacts on rates?

MR. HALPERIN:  Other than adjusting the amortization periods, no.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

And then if I have you turn the page, you will see there is a quote from Mr. Barrett, third paragraph from the bottom.  It says:

"During this time, OPG will review our application to identify ways to further lessen the impact of our request on ratepayers."

I take it, again, the only element that you are aware of that was considered was extending the period for recovery to lower the rate increase?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  If I can have you turn to tab 11, again.  This is an article dated May 26, 2010.  Unfortunately, because it is all single sentences, I am not even going to try and count down the paragraphs, but right in the middle there is a statement that says:

"In addition, OPG will not jack up rates to recover what were in effect tax overpayments made in the previous years."

I am not sure if this question is for this panel; it may be for panel 10.  But do you know, is that statement true?

MR. HALPERIN:  There are a number of problems with this entire press release.  It is full of miss -- I would say inaccuracies and errors.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  When you say "this press release" --


MR. HALPERIN:  This article.

MR. DeROSE:  This was, in part, based on OPG's spokesman Ted Gruetzner -- I may...

MR. HALPERIN:  Gruetzner, I think it is.

MR. DeROSE:  Gruetzner?  Is that right?  You will see he is quoted throughout it.

MR. HALPERIN:  It certainly appears to be.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But what I am actually concerned about is just the one sentence:

"OPG will not jack up rates to recover what were in effect tax overpayments made in previous years."

Is that something that you can speak to?  Or is that a question I should ask to panel 10?

MR. KEIZER:  I think it is probably something that -- I think it is in reference, in some way, to the tax issue, tax loss variance account issue, but I think probably it is better to be addressed there, which you will also be able to cover off on the regulatory issues side, as well.

MR. DeROSE:  That's fair.  Thank you.

If I can have you turn to tab 12, this is an interrogatory which we asked.  And if I can take you to sub (d) on page 1 of 2, the very last sentence -- well, we're asking here whether the spending plans:

"...are likely to produce total bill increases for a typical or average residential customer in an amount that exceeds, on average, 10% over five years.  Under this assumption, does OPG have any suggestions as to what the OEB should do to constrain the total bill impacts on a typical residential customer to an amount that does not exceed, on average, 10% per year over the next five years?"

If you turn the page, the answer is:

"No.  The focus of OPG's activity before the OEB is on matters that relate to the determination of just and reasonable payment amounts for the prescribed facilities or directly impact OPG operations."

Do I -- and now first of all, this interrogatory was listed under your panel, although it is identified as the deferral and variance account payments amount regulatory treatments.

MR. KEIZER:  I would think if you are going to ask about the regulatory treatment and customer impacts generally, within that regulatory aspect, that panel 10 would be the best prepared to deal with that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

Now, Mr. Halperin, were you ever asked to consider the appropriateness of proposing mitigation measures to, or is this also panel 10, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  My understanding, it is also panel 10.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Perhaps just to close it off, let's close it off this way.  Mr. Halperin, in the context of business planning, first of all, I take it that it would not -- you would not undertake any type of analysis of the overall cost impact on customers as part of your business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Overall, that's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And because of that, you also wouldn't consider -- it wouldn't be your role to consider whether you should or should not propose some form of rate mitigation.  That would be someone else's role?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, when we are providing a forecast, for example, of rates beyond the current test period, which would be two to three years in the future, if the preliminary indications coming through the business plan process were that we were looking at some significant increases, we would certainly take that into account, not necessarily in the current planning process, but as we move forward, to try to address these things in future processes.

MR. DeROSE:  What do you mean you would take this into account?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, we wouldn't necessarily be able to change -- we would take that into account in setting the planning context for future processes.

MR. DeROSE:  Are you aware, Mr. Halperin, that in your last case OPG proposed -- first of all, recognized that the payment amounts being applied for were significant and would have an impact on electricity consumers, and, therefore, OPG proposed to mitigate the impact by crediting certain amounts, by reducing the rates, by proposing mitigation?  Are you aware of that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And is that something that you take into consideration in the business planning process, whether you should or should not obtain mitigation or proposed mitigation?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, we wouldn't build that into a specific forecast at this point going forward, but it is something we would keep in mind in our longer term planning.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Did you have that in mind when you were planning your business plans that are subject to this application?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.  When we made the initial application, I guess the actual factors contributing to increased payment amounts compared to those relating to the deferral and variance accounts, the actual costs were a relatively small proportion of the total required increase.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If I can have you -- can I just take you back to your business planning instructions, Mr. Halperin, tab 2, and if I can take you to page 3?  Do you have that?

MR. HALPERIN:  I do.

MR. DeROSE:  I have taken you to this quote before, but the third paragraph, you say:
"The fact that many Ontario businesses are fighting for survival, and ratepayers are facing economic hardship, means that we can expect unprecedented pressure to aggressively manage our costs, while maintaining safe and prudent operations."


In the first sentence, you recognize that your process is being -- is:
"...occurring against a backdrop of unique financial circumstances.  Ontario has been particularly hard hit by the global financial meltdown..."


Are you telling me that in those circumstances, those would not be enough to warrant you considering whether mitigation should be considered in your business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think -- we believed that the increase we were seeking, the 6.2 percent increase, ultimately, as it translated to an impact on customer bills of less than 2 percent, we felt it was a reasonable balancing.

MR. DeROSE:  When you say "customer impact on customer bills", are you aware that CME has been critical of what we call a partial analysis of bill impact for customers as opposed to a total bill impact analysis?

MR. HALPERIN:  No, I am not aware of that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I will take you there in just a moment, but one other question just to close this loop.

If I can have you go to tab 15?  This is Exhibit I1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1.

Mr. Halperin, is this something that you prepare in the course of business planning or is this something that your regulatory group would speak to in panel 10?

MR. HALPERIN:  It is the latter.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  Now, so let me take you to the TBI, total bill impact issue.  Now, you have said that you are not aware that CME has been critical of what we call a partial bill impact analysis.  Are you aware that CME has filed a report from Mr. Bruce Sharp of Aegent Energy Advisors in the course of this hearing?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  You aren't even aware of it?  We are hurt you haven't taken the interest to read our report.

Okay.  Well, let me -- I would like to take you to it.

MR. HALPERIN:  Nothing personal.

MR. DeROSE:  And, I'm sorry, Mr. Millar, I don't know what the actual exhibit number is for... I should know this.

MR. MILLAR:  It's Exhibit M, tab 5, schedule 1.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And, Mr. Halperin, I appreciate it is glaringly obvious that you haven't read this, so -- but there are a few points that I would like to just walk you through to see if there are any issues that, from your perspective, you disagree with in the report.

First of all, if I can have you turn to page 2 of the report?

MR. KEIZER:  So, Mr. DeRose, are your questions just going to be in a general nature, or are they specific about the report?  I notice it wasn't included in your compendium, which is 26 tabs long, and I just was curious as to where you intend to go.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, I have to admit I am still a little surprised that your business planning witness panel wouldn't have read the evidence that criticizes the very issue we are taking.

MR. KEIZER:  Well --


MR. DeROSE:  I am happy if you want Mr. Halperin to have an opportunity to read this first.

I am simply -- what I want to achieve is an understanding of whether there are items or assertions or assumptions that Mr. Sharp has made that Mr. Halperin, from a business planning perspective, is in disagreement with.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I guess I understand the reason I think why the witness wouldn't be aware was because the issue relating to customer impacts, and as you have established I think even through questioning, is something that's being dealt with in panel 10.  So I guess I believe --


MR. DeROSE:  If these questions are more appropriately dealt -- I am happy to defer this to panel 10.  What I want to ensure is that panel 10 is not going to say -- well, I guess, Mr. Halperin, you are on panel 10, aren't you?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am on panel 10, but as I have indicated --


MR. KEIZER:  Is your microphone on, sir?

MR. HALPERIN:  In the course of the business planning process, we do not take this -- we do not go through this exercise of calculating a bill impact.  That is done basically as part of the regulatory process when we are firming up the proposal.

So if there are questions about the methodology of how we come up with a bill impact, I think that is best left to panel 10, where there are regulatory affairs --


MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps what we can do is we can defer this to panel 10, and will you humour me and at least take a quick look at our report before you come back for panel 10?

MR. HALPERIN:  I will, but I don't think I will be the witness to speak to those issues.

MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  Thank you very much.  Now, you have indicated that you do not undertake this type of an analysis, and I appreciate you might not fully understand what type of analysis, but a total bill impact analysis as part of your planning process.

Are you aware of OPG ever considering whether you should do this type of analysis?  I appreciate you don't do it, but did you ever consider the value of it, in the planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, I think it is fairly clear, from the instructions onward, that we do take into account customer impacts quite seriously in setting our planning context and setting guidelines.

We don't -- it has never been suggested to us that we specifically do this type of calculation at the front end of the business planning process.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  We are suggesting that you do it, and all that I want to understand is, I take it from that answer, you have never actually considered whether you should or should not do it?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the witness has said he hasn't looked at your report.  You are proposing a report that says:  You should do this kind of total bill analysis.

So I think it is I a little bit unfair to ask him whether he should do it, when he hasn't actually had a chance to review the report and assess that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Put aside our report.

Have you ever considered whether in your business planning process, you should look at the total energy costs that consumers are facing in the time period that you are planning for, which include not only cost increases that flow from OPG's application, but also all of the other increases that you are aware of in the province?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, I would say explicitly, we have not.  But as our instructions indicate, we are aware of the increasing costs that customers are facing from various fronts, and basically we believe it is our mandate to try to manage our piece of that as prudently as possible.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If you are trying to manage that prudently, but you don't analyze what the impacts are, how do you manage something that you -- well, let me back up.

As I understand what you are saying, you are generally aware that customers are facing energy increases; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And it is within that context that you would be conducting your business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  If you don't undertake an analysis that tries to assess the level of those overall impacts, how do those overall impacts, then, feed into the business planning, if you don't look at it?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, those overall impacts set the context for us to review our costs and how we can manage those the best.

MR. DeROSE:  So it is just –- contextual?

MR. HALPERIN:  There is nothing we can do about the fact that there is a Green Energy Program with the high feed-in tariffs that is going to increase the costs to customers.  There is not really much we can do about that, other than trying to manage our costs as efficiently and prudently as possible.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, subject to the deferred questions that will be going to -– actually, I'm sorry, one last confirmation -- no.  That all falls into taxes, so we are fine.

Thank you very much, panel.  Those are all of our questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

Mr. Warren, I have you next in my order.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I wonder if I could impose on the Board for just five minutes.  I just want to distribute hard copies of the material I distributed yesterday.  If I could just take five minutes to do that, then it would make life easier.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit K10.1, and I believe it is a compendium of documents from CCC.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.1:  COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS FROM CCC.

[Mr. Warren distributes document]

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, there is a second document as well, the 2010 Ontario budget, and we will call this K10.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.2:  2010 ONTARIO BUDGET.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just by way of explanation of the material that's been distributed, Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, I distributed yesterday two documents that are now comprised in Exhibit K10.1.

One is approximately seven pages from the budget documents.

The second is a document from the IESO, dated October 28th, 2009, which was a presentation to its stakeholder advisory committee.

I undertook to provide my friend and the Board with the entire document budget papers from which it is taken, but the only pages to which I will be referring are those which I distributed yesterday.

But in case anybody wanted to read through the budget papers, I thought, well, why deprive them of that pleasure?

Panel, I wonder if I could start with the budget documents; in particular, the ones that I sent to you yesterday.

Now, if you would turn up page 107 of the budget documents –- sorry, I apologize.  Let's start actually with page 69 of the budget documents.

Do you have that, Mr. Halperin?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  In the summary of revenue changes that are there, and various other portions in this document, there is an indication that the -- one source of the government's, Ontario government's revenue is revenue from Ontario Power Generation Inc. and Hydro One Inc.

Can we agree that that is the case?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And then if you would go to page 107, at the top of the page, it says:

"The forecast for income from government business enterprises..."

One of which would be OPG; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  "...is based on information provided by
each of these enterprises."

Can you tell me, Mr. Halperin, when it is that OPG would have provided the revenue forecast to the Ontario government, the revenue forecast that went into the budget?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am assuming the date of this budget document is the spring of 2010.  I couldn't quite locate that anymore.

MR. WARREN:  It is indeed.

MR. HALPERIN:  We provide the government a forecast of our income for their budgetary purposes.

So I assume this would have -- we would have provided them a forecast in the spring of 2010.  So I am assuming that is what this reflects.

MR. WARREN:  My question was specifically:  Would you be the person who would have provided this data to the Ontario government?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  My department provides this forecast to the government.

MR. WARREN:  So you would know two things.  You would know, A, what the forecast was that was provided, and you would have known when precisely it was provided; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  I would have to confirm the precise date, but...

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to do two things?  Could you tell me, sir, the date on which the forecast was provided to the Ontario government?  This is for the purposes of preparing the budget.

Now, if we could just put our finger for a moment on the undertaking, and if you could turn up page 136?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I just –- and maybe you are going to get there when you go to 136.  I am not sure, but I am trying to understand why the overall Ontario government budget is relevant to the payment amounts case for OPG.


MR. WARREN:  We are going to get there, Mr. Keizer, if you could just bear with me a couple of minutes.

Page 136.

MR. HALPERIN:  I'm there.

MR. WARREN:  Under "government business enterprises revenue", there is a line, the third line down, "Ontario Power Generation, Hydro One Inc.", and there are revenue figures provided there.  Do you see those?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  Yes, I do.

MR. WARREN:  As part of the undertaking, I wonder if you could provide me with the amount that was forecast for Ontario Power Generation.  Can you do that?

MR. HALPERIN:  For what period?

MR. WARREN:  For the period for -- covered by this budget.

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, there is four numbers listed -- there are four time periods listed on these columns.  Are you just looking for the 2010-2011 plan?  Is that what you're looking for?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, I am.  That's what I'm looking for.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if I am any more enlightened after that.  I mean, he's asking for information, one, about OPG as a whole, which includes regulated and unregulated income or revenue.

It's a forecast related to the government's budget, which isn't necessarily related to the business plan or this rates case, as far as -- I am not sure where it falls out.  So I guess --


MR. WARREN:  Where it falls out is this, Madam Chair, is that this is, I am going to presume, a hard number.  You don't kid the Ontario government when you give it a number for a budget that is going to arise in the House.

And what I would like to know, in my respectful submission, is the relationship between the number they provided to the government and any adjustments they purported to make in the rate impacts and the overall application that followed from that.  To put the matter bluntly, if the number they gave to the Ontario government was a hard number, it was immoveable because it was going to the budget, then any discussion of adjustments on that would have to be taken in that context to see whether or not any adjustments were real and what their impact was.

It is also relevant to the exchange that my friend Mr. DeRose asked about, which was the concurrence that was received from the Minister of Finance sometime I believe in June of 2010.

So, in the overall scheme of things, if there is a hard number for which they can't move - and I am suggesting that would be the budget number - then that is relevant to the question of what, if any, adjustments they made over the course of the spring and early summer of 2010, adjustments which they're taking some comfort in in this application.  That's why it is relevant, Madam Chair.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think we are getting and we are providing the concurrence already by way of undertaking.  The application is the one before it.  The revenue number that is relevant to this Board is what is in the application.

How the government treats its forecast, the forecasts it receives, and what it uses for the Ontario government overall, I don't quite see -- that is not here to be tested by this Board.

And it is not -- it's just simply not -- I don't know how it fits within the determination of a rates proceeding.  We've given evidence already about what efforts were made to mitigate.  The witnesses have been clear that the business plan was created in November, and it was -- and the only thing that was changed was the amortization period.

So I guess I am struggling to see why we now need to take overall total OPG numbers, figure out a way to extract from that within that forecast what the regulated portion is, because the non-regulated portion within this total number is not -- for sure not relevant.

So I guess I am -- in my view, I don't believe it is relevant.  There is no reason why we should produce it

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Warren, just before the Panel confers, I am trying to understand.  So I am looking at this table 27, and I gather you are interested in the regulated OPG portion of the 844 million?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, that's correct, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But am I correct that the overlap with the test period would only be for the first few months of 2011?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  I am assuming that.  I would have to see the numbers.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So can you help me with how that's going to help us much, since the test period is covering all of 2011 and 2012 and this number really doesn't have very much to do with that period?

MR. WARREN:  I acknowledge that there is a problem with overlapping periods.  But in the mix of what information was being generated and provided to the government, remember the context is in these exchanges with the government about what you are doing to reduce it.  Any number we can get, in my respectful submission, that shows what OPG was saying to the government about what revenues it was going to get -- and we will also get to the point in a moment, if I can, about the relationship between the regulated and unregulated enterprises, which, in my view remains, relevant in one context.

There is going to be a problem, no question, about overlapping periods and what period applies, but, in my respectful submission, this information is relevant in the context of the overall -- in the context of the government's request that they do something to reduce the impact on ratepayers.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No.  I guess I am asking, they were asked something to do reduce the impact on ratepayers within the context of their application in the rate period, of which there is only three months that would be in that $844 million.

MR. WARREN:  I understand that, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Just a minute, please.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  The Panel has decided that we will take that undertaking on the basis that the number should be easy to provide, and we will determine later sort of in terms of how much weight we would give to it in terms of the relevance.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J10.3, and I believe it is to provide the forecast amount provided to the provincial government and the date upon which that information was provided?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  The forecast revenues.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.3:  TO PROVIDE THE TOTAL OPG FORECAST REVENUE PRIOR TO CONSOLIDATION PROVIDED TO THE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT, AND THE DATE UPON WHICH IT WAS PROVIDED, REFLECTING 9 MONTHS OF 2010 AND 3 MONTHS OF 2011.

MR. HALPERIN:  Just to clarify.  So the number we will give you will be the total OPG net income that was provided to the government for these purposes.  And for that period, basically, it would be nine months of 2010 and the first quarter of 2011.  That is what the government's fiscal basis is for this number.

So basically -- and we cannot disaggregate that between regulated and unregulated income.  It is a total, just so you know that.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, you can't?

MR. HALPERIN:  We cannot.

MR. WARREN:  You don't know the different numbers?

MR. HALPERIN:  The net income number we provide to the government for this purpose is a consolidated OPG net income.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that, Mr. Halperin, but you don't know the difference in income from the regulated versus the unregulated side of your business?  Surely you do?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.  We do not calculate net incomes on a segmented basis.  We go down to an earnings-before-interest-and-tax basis.  The income taxes that come to bear are done for OPG as a whole.

MR. WARREN:  Well, again, if we just put our finger on that, if you could go to page 109 of the budget documents?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, before we do that, I guess I just -- before we put our finger on that, I go back I guess to your ruling, Madam Chair, about your comment that the undertaking was easy to provide.

I guess I am not sure whether or not that has to change, given the fact -- if the witness is not able to produce something on a disaggregated basis.


MR. WARREN:  Perhaps, Madam Chair, before we deal with that, we can just get to the page reference I am referring to, which may provide some guidance on this very question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Let's continue to explore how best to complete this.

MR. WARREN:  If you could go to page 109?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And in the second full paragraph, it reads as follows:
"Net income from Government Business Enterprises is lower over the forecast period.  The outlook for the combined net incomes of Hydro One Inc. and...OPG has decreased in each year over the medium term primarily due to lower OPG earnings as a result of lower projected market electricity prices for its unregulated and non-contracted generation."


Now, in order for someone to write -- from the Minister of Finance's department to write that in the budget document, which supports a budget, they must have known what that number was for the lower income from the unregulated businesses.  Is that an unreasonable conclusion on my part?

MR. HALPERIN:  The number we would have provided would have been a cost impact before tax.  So it would be basically the change in sales margins that we were experiencing, due to the lower unregulated prices.  That's the impact that we would have identified.  It is not a net-income impact.

MR. WARREN:  So when it says there "primarily to lower OPG earnings" you are not providing a net income from OPG's unregulated business?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not a net income, no.  It is a consolidated net income.

MR. WARREN:  So what is the data that would have been provided that would have allowed somebody to make this statement in the budget document, that there are lower earnings from the unregulated business?

MR. HALPERIN:  Because we can identify the revenues on a segmented basis, and the fuel costs, and that's where this was done.

But again, we take those calculations on a forecast basis down to an EBIT level, and then things like income tax and interest costs are dealt with on a corporate-wide basis.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, you provide them with that information?  Or are you just providing them with the very bottom line?

MR. HALPERIN:  We provide them with a bottom line, and we provide them a bit of a variance analysis as to why it would have changed.  We would have identified this 180-odd million dollars as the impact of lower unregulated prices on OPG's revenues.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So to reach the number that you filed with them, you would have performed a certain amount of the calculations on the segregated basis, before you then did the part that you do on a consolidated basis?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, yes.  All of the information is done on an integrated basis.  But this variance item is easily identifiable, because it deals specifically with the impact of market prices.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well I'm sorry, Mr. Halperin, I don't understand.

On the one hand, you are saying you do some of the calculations and the report, not necessarily reporting, but the keeping track of the numbers, on a separated basis, between regulated and unregulated.

And then you get below EBIT and then do you it on a consolidated basis; isn't that what you said?

MR. HALPERIN:  Essentially, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So that analysis -- up until the EBIT, E-B-I-T, that would be, if you gave us the numbers that went into that, whatever your portion is of the 844 million, would that be comparable?  Could we then compare that to a similar level of -- similar stage within the materials that are filed?  Bearing in mind that the years, that the time periods are different?

MR. HALPERIN:  I would have to confirm that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Might that be a way to get something that was comparable?

MR. WARREN:  It would, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Or at least comparable to that stage?  Then the treatment of taxes and interest might vary, but... okay.

Why don't he you work on that basis and see what we get?  Is that acceptable, Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  That's fine.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, is that amending the previous undertaking?  Is it...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  I think that provides sort of a further description of what it is you are going to provide.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead, Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  My final questioned in this context, Mr. Halperin, is during your business planning process, this document, the budget document, indicates that there is lower income from your unregulated business.

I am not at this stage on the public record asking for the numbers, but I want to know:  As part of the business planning process, to what extent do you predicate your decision about your revenue requirements for the regulated business on the basis of your earnings in the unregulated business?  What is the relationship, if any, between the two?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't believe there is any relationship between those two items.

MR. WARREN:  You say you don't believe.  My question is:  Do you consider the relation?  Do you consider the two income streams when you are doing your business planning for the regulated business?

I mean, you are the guys who run the show, and you say you don't believe there is.  I'm asking:  Is it considered as part of the business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  The contributions of the regulated and unregulated segments of the business obviously come together in the total business plan.

But in developing a rate proposal, the -- we basically -- we are dealing with the costs that are directly attributable to the regulated entities and an allocation of corporate costs, and those are not affected by a financial outlook of the unregulated segment.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  My next area of question arises from an exchange I had with Mr. Peterson, and it is reflected in or embodied in volume 2 of the transcript, and I wonder if you could turn that up, Mr. Halperin.

MR. REEVE:  What is the reference?

MR. WARREN:  Page 56 is the page reference.

Have you read the transcript of the case to this point, Mr. Halperin?

MR. HALPERIN:  Certain sections, but... I am not sure I have read this one.  What line are you at?

MR. WARREN:  I'm beginning on page 55, then the relevant portion is on page 56.  But let me provide you with a gloss, if I can.  If it is inaccurate, I am sure Mr. Keizer will tell us.

The exchange between Mr. Peterson and I was on the subject of SBG.

And I was asking Mr. Peterson questions about the relationship between the price of the power generated by the hydroelectric assets, in this case, and the fact that it is being displaced by the more expensive power generated pursuant to the FIT tariffs.

And I put the proposition to him that there was that displacement, that Hydro One -– sorry, that OPG was able to sell less power, less power at a lower price, because of the FIT tariffs.  That is roughly the exchange and Mr. Peterson agreed with me on that proposition.

So against that background, my question is:  In your business planning process leading to this application, what was the relevance or what were the considerations made, if any, about the impact on OPG's business of the new power generated by -- under the FIT tariffs?  Were they considered at all?  And if so, in what way?

MR. HALPERIN:  They would have been considered in the development of the hydroelectric production forecast.

MR. WARREN:  And would they have been considered in terms of what you felt the revenue levels would be?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not specifically, no.  Again, it is the net production, net of spills, whatever, due to SBG, is what would have been the input into the corporate business plan.

MR. WARREN:  And would there have been an impact, for example, in an attempt to increase the business, increase the revenue from the regulated businesses as a result of the loss of load, if you wish, from the FIT tariff contracts, renewable generation?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, the costs reflected in the rate proposal reflect the costs that have been -- that tracks directly to the regulated facilities of those that are allocated.  There is no means to generally increase the revenue for some reason, due to SBG.

MR. WARREN:  There is no attempt to compensate for the loss of load by increasing your revenue from other sources on the regulated side of the business; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  We have not.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I would like to turn to the second document that I put to you --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Warren.  Maybe I could ask you to turn off your mic and turn it on again.  It is not working right.  And it was pretty clear before, but...

MR. WARREN:  Turn it on again?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, to see if that helps.

MR. WARREN:  It is back on again.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That is much better, thank you.

MR. WARREN:  I am always flattered when someone says they want to hear me.  It is certainly not the case at home.

[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  The second of the two documents -–

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's why we all come to work.

[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  If I... if I could turn you to the second of the two documents, Mr. Halperin.  I am sure your family life is different than mine, Mr. Halperin, more salubrious surroundings.

This is an IESO document entitled "Effective Pricing in Ontario's Hydroelectricity Market".  It is dated October 28th, 2010 -- 2009, I'm sorry.  It's a presentation to its stakeholder advisory committee, known by the term "SAC".

I would like you to turn to page 9, if I could.  First of all, other the fact it was sent to you yesterday, are you familiar with this document?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  This is a follow-up to Mr. DeRose's line of questions.  Would you have -- would you be generally familiar with the information which is produced by the IESO with respect to market prices and other of its activities?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, not specifically to the -- I don't know who is on the stakeholder advisory committee this presentation is made to.  To the extent there would have been people from OPG on that committee, the information would have been put forward, if it was deemed relevant to my work.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I would ask you to turn to page 9, keeping in mind that -- I take it you read it before this morning?

MR. HALPERIN:  I did.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  On page 9, there is a listing by the IESO, other factors, other than the HOEP, that have driven global adjustment costs upwards.  Do you see that list?

MR. HALPERIN:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  And I am really looking to you for an explanation, if you can.  You may not be the person.

The first item is:
"Rates paid to OPG regulated nuclear and hydro assets increased by 11 percent."

Would you agree with that statement, that the increase in the rates paid to OPG have driven the global adjustment upwards?

MR. HALPERIN:  Given the time period this appears to be covering, that makes some sense to me, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now the second is:
"OEFC entered into a contingency support agreement for Lambton and Nanticoke facilities as part of OPG's carbon dioxide reduction strategy."

There is an asterisk there for quarter 1 of 2009, 39 million; quarter 2 2009, 141 million.

Are you familiar with that contingency support agreement?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes, I am.

MR. WARREN:  Could you provide, for my benefit, a brief explanation of what it is?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, as I understand it, the Lambton and Nanticoke facilities are coal facilities or fuel facilities that are not included within the prescribed assets.  So I am not quite sure where we are going with respect to the unregulated side of the business.

MR. WARREN:  Where we are going is I am trying to understand the various factors that are considered by the business planning units and whether or not this particular contract or these particular cost implications were considered as part of the business planning process.  That is really where I am going.  That is what I want to ask the witness.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine.  Go ahead.

MR. WARREN:  So if you could provide a brief explanation for what -- the contingency support agreement, and then my follow-up question is:  What, if any, role did it play in the business planning process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, the contingency support agreement was entered into when OPG and the government agreed on the CO2 reduction strategy.  What it meant was a series of declining production ceilings for our coal plants leading up to the end of 2014 when they would be retired.

However, at the same time, we had to maintain these plants for capacity requirements.  So we were not able to recover the costs of maintaining these plants fully through the expected market revenues, partly because the market prices were falling and the expected generation from these plants was falling off considerably in our forecasts.

So we entered into an agreement with the OEFC where they would basically ensure that we could recover our operating costs and the depreciation associated with these plants through to their end of their operation in 2014.  That was the basis for the agreement.

MR. WARREN:  And did this agreement have any impact on the business planning process leading to this application?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes, it has.  I think there's been reference made at various points to initiatives in terms of cost reduction.  It's been identified that we are shutting down some coal plants earlier than expected.

We specifically have identified in our business plans the fact that if you take this agreement into account, in conjunction with our prescribed assets, almost 85 percent of our generation is basically -- if you want to call it regulated.  It is basically funded by ratepayer payments; right?  They're not subject to market prices.

So we specifically sought initiatives to reduce the cost of operating these plants, recognizing that it would be a one-to-one reduction in the costs that would have to be recovered through the global adjustment mechanism.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  The final point at page 9 is the 3,700 megawatts of OPA-contracted supply have come online in the last 12 months.

There is no gloss on that to explain what that is.  I am going to presume that that's largely the renewable supply and the FIT tariffs, and you have indicated in an exchange a few moments ago that that increased supply had no impact on your business planning process for purposes of this application, is that correct, other than the impact on the forecast from --


MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, other than setting the context for the business planning process in terms of pursuit of cost reductions.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I am moving to a final area of the examination.  Would you like me to conclude or take your morning break?  It is up to you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  Why don't we take the break now for 15 minutes?

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:54 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Warren, whenever you are ready.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I don't know that you are able to answer this question, but I will try anyway.

Could you turn up Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, which is in evidence, a portion of the evidence titled:  "Business planning and budgeting process"?

Do you have it, panel?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  If you could turn to page 12 of 14, beginning at line 15, it says, and I quote:

"To assess an investment's value in the context of the overall Ontario electricity system, its cost is evaluated against the estimated value to the electricity system of the additional capacity and energy expressed on $/MWh basis - the system economic value.  OPG's develops the [system economic value] based on a number of inputs including forecast demand, fuel prices, CO2 offset cost, cost of new generation (typically combined cycle and simple cycle gas plants) and publicly available information on committed generation plants in Ontario ([for example], OPA contracts).  OPG also considers relevant environmental legislation and policies (e.g., air emission limits on SO2, NOX, particulates, mercury)."

Have I read that accurately?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Halperin, in an exchange you and I had before the break, I asked you about the extent to which -- first of all, just by way of general overview, as part of the planning process that you are engaged in, do you consider all of the factors that are listed in that paragraph I just read to you?

MR. HALPERIN:  These are basically considered in the revenue and price forecasts that come to my unit as part of the business plan process.

MR. WARREN:  Come to your unit from whom?

MR. HALPERIN:  From our energy markets group.  They produce the forecast of unregulated revenues.

MR. WARREN:  And are these all related to unregulated?  These considerations all related to the unregulated side of your business, or the regulated side of your business?

MR. HALPERIN:  These, largely, relate to what the expectation of what the marginal cost of electricity will be on the system.  I think they basically relate to the unregulated side, by and large.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I am curious, then, why this cluster of considerations, if they apply largely to the unregulated side, would have been included in prefiled evidence dealing with the regulated assets.

Can you help me with that?

MR. HALPERIN:  I can try.  Again, what these are used for, these represent the marginal cost of electricity on the system in the future.

When we are considering a project, whether it is on the regulated or unregulated side, basically you look at the costs of the project and you look at the benefits.

To the extent that the benefits will be an increase in electricity production, for example, through an increase in reliability, or an extension of production assumptions from regulated assets, the cost of the electricity from that project is compared to the marginal cost, to determine whether it would provide a benefit or not to the system as a whole.

MR. WARREN:  I had an exchange with a witness panel earlier, Mr. Laurie.  This appears in volume 5 of the transcript, and you don't need to turn it up, but I put to Mr. Laurie -- he was dealing with the budget for nuclear capital, and I put -- asked him a question, whether or not the factors which I just read in that paragraph were considered in coming up with a nuclear budget.

And he said that they were not.  That was a sustaining budget and they weren't considered.

Now, let's turn, then, to the question of the Darlington refurbishment.  And I appreciate you are not the person responsible for it, but in terms of the business planning process, can you tell me whether or not these factors that are listed on page 12 of 14 of Exhibit A2, tab 2, schedule 1 were considered in the assessment of the Darlington facility?

MR. HALPERIN:  I speak to that, but what I can tell is that the SEVs in particular are not intended for use in projects like Darlington refurbishment.  They're specifically used for smaller projects.  For larger projects such as Darlington refurbishment, there would be a standalone assessment of the future benefits.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

I wanted to ask a number of questions relating to the business planning process and the introduction of the top-down budgeting process that we have heard about from prior panels.

Let me start with a specific, and then perhaps move to the general.

We have heard from you already that one of the things that was done in relation to the business planning was the $85 million reduction in previously planned OM&A budget.

You are familiar with that reduction and how that occurred; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the question I have for you is:  The previously planned, was that -- what are you talking about in terms of it being previously planned?  Can you help me there?

MR. HALPERIN:  That would have been the forecast underlying the previous -- coming out of the previous business planning process.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It was, then, an out year of the business planning process, and as you got closer to it, you have now adjusted it downward?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And when it was previously planned, was that number arrived at prior to the introduction of the top-down budgeting process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Can you clarify, in terms of the top-down budgeting process, what exactly you are referring to?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, I am hoping ultimately you are going to tell me the answer to that.

But we heard previously from a prior panel involving ScottMadden and others, that OPG has made this move and that you've gone from some form of a bottom-up process to some form of a top-down process.

And I am assuming that, that having been introduced, it affects, in part, how you do your business in your group.  Am I not right about that?

MR. HALPERIN:  To a degree.  I think the discussion around top-down planning that was implemented in nuclear was largely a nuclear element.  So the...

MR. STEPHENSON:  But the nuclear business is a gigantic piece of your overall budget; fair?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I guess there was a period of time before this was introduced.  I am not sure of the precise date that you made a switchover from what you were doing before to what you are doing now, but my question was:  The budget, the pre-$85 million reduction budget, was that a number that had been generated by virtue of the prior process, as opposed to the current process?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  Prior to the 85 million, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And my next question is:  Is the $85 million reduction, what part, if any, did the introduction of the top-down budgeting process have in generating that number?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think you could characterize the entire 85 million as basically an element of top-down planning.

Again, setting the context, when we went to our board in the fall of 2008, we originally had gone with a plan that indicated a rate submission, new rates effective 2010.

When the decision was made to defer that rate application, it was basically made in the context of management making a commitment to reduce its costs by $85 million.  So to the extent that was identified early on in the business planning requirements, I think I would call that a top-down approach.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I understand and I accept that.  The follow-up question, however, is:  I suppose there are top-down approaches and there are top-down approaches, and I want to tie it back specifically to the OPG's acceptance and commencement of implementation of the ScottMadden recommendations regarding top-down budgeting.

When you say that that came about as a result of a top-down process, are you referring specifically back to the ScottMadden -- the adoption of the ScottMadden recommendations, or are you talking about something more generic?

MR. HALPERIN:  I am talking more generic.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So I take it you can't assist me as to what extent that number - that is the $85 million number - is a reflection of any specific adoption of ScottMadden recommendations?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Moving more generically now to a world where OPG has, in fact, adopted these ScottMadden recommendations, at least vis-à-vis the nuclear business, can you assist me?  Who is it that comes up with the top-down number, what specific person or group?  Whose accountability is that to come up with the number?  Is that your group, or where does it come from?

MR. HALPERIN:  You are asking about ScottMadden?

MR. STEPHENSON:  No.  I'm talking about, for 2011, you've got, you know, a budget number in terms of your spending.  In 2012 you've got one.  In 2013 you're going to have one.

And whether it is from the nuclear business or the hydraulic business or overall, to the extent you have a top-down number, who is the top, so to speak?  If it is coming from the top, what is the top?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think you may be perhaps overemphasizing the notion of top-down, certainly from the perspective of the corporate business planning process.

I mean, you're inferring that somebody out there has the wherewithal to make a decision on what the bottom line, for example, OM&A budget should be for the company as a whole, and that is not the way it operates.

Again, the current plan, the previously approved plan, is always our starting point for our business planning process and we will look at that.

In this process described in this undertaking, we basically set the context saying we need to look for additional cost reductions.  We need to manage our costs.  At the very least, we need to make sure that we are not introducing a new forecast that is any greater than the numbers we previously had, and ideally we would like to do better than that.

But there is not a process where we can actually peg, from top to bottom, what the number needs to be as a starting point.  And that is why the guidelines that were identified in the exhibit were referencing the previous year's plans as the interim guidelines.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That all makes perfect sense to me, and that is why I always have difficulty with this concept of top-down budgeting, because -- and I appreciate I am being over simplistic about this, but -- and it may well be there is no such thing as pure top-down budgeting, but as I understand it - and correct me if I'm wrong - the fundamental distinction between top-down budgeting and bottom-up budgeting is that the primary driver is a number which is set from above, and the people below are tasked with achieving it.

Am I wrong about that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, I would say what we have is a series of numbers as they apply to each of the business units, and those targets were set in the guidelines.  And then it came up to the business unit processes to deal with those targets and make the appropriate trade-offs that they needed to do in order to come up with a business plan that met those targets.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So when you are doing -- preparing the guidelines for next year, you will have - am I wrong - global numbers in mind for each of the business units in terms of OM&A and capital budgets, for example?  And those will go into -- either go into the guidelines, or it will be a foundation upon which the guidelines are based; is that fair?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And where do you get those numbers from?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, the starting point typically is the currently approved plan.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But before they go into the guidelines, the business planning guidelines, somebody approves them.  Is that you or is it somebody else?

MR. HALPERIN:  I believe the guidelines were approved by our senior management team.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you are familiar with the four cornerstones?

MR. HALPERIN:  Perhaps you can refresh me.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am trying to remember what the heck they were, but it was gospel here last week.

One of them is safety and reliability, and there's three other ones.  Enhancing value is one of them.

These are fundamental business objectives from OPG's perspective.  You are aware that they exist, even if we can't remember them sitting here; correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  If I can help, I think it is actually for the nuclear division.  I think it was reliability, safety, performance, and value for money.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And fair enough.  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  I appreciate that.

But, I mean, these are -- given the significance of the nuclear business to your overall business, these are significant objectives for your overall business; fair?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the question I have is:  Would you agree with me that, generally speaking, there is always going to be a tension between top-down objectives and bottom-up objectives, in the sense that the engineers and the folks on the ground always want more money and more resources to do all of the good projects they think are required, and the people at the top want to impose constraints; fair?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think that is fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the question I have for you is:  What role, if any, does the business planning process play in achieving a compromise between the tension between those two competing visions?

MR. HALPERIN:  It is -- the role of the corporate planning process, as evidenced in the instructions, is to provide the higher level context facing the company within which the business units are expected to develop their business plans.

To the extent that those instructions led off talking about the economic situation facing the province and its customers, it was trying to address that balance that needs to be made, and perhaps advocating that where there is always some gray area between how quickly perhaps you need to schedule to do certain projects to maintain your reliability or your investments in the plant and the ability to pay for them, to the extent that we can take some informed risks and decisions in terms of deferring certain work if it will provide a more acceptable level or rate requirement, that's what we were encouraging them to do in these planning instructions.

The actual trade-off between the work that needs to be done to maintain system reliability or to address some of the other corners, as we call them, that is largely -- actually, completely addressed within the business unit process.  Given --


MR. STEPHENSON:  I think you have answered it, where I was about to go.

Your group doesn't play a policing function after the fact, in order to ensure that an inappropriate compromise hasn't been made?

MR. HALPERIN:  Our role is to provide the information, both on a business unit and in a rolled-up context, to senior management, to help them understand what the impacts of those decisions have been made.

And really, that provides context for when the business plans are reviewed by the CEO and CFO.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to come back to something you just mentioned previously, which is a slightly different point, which is how your instructions in this particular case manifested this objective, so to speak, of doing some cost deferral, to the extent it didn't jeopardize your business, in order to mitigate near-term cost and rate pressures.

That is a fair characterization, is it?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  In coming up with that message or that objective, did you assess what kind of cost or rate pressures your customers would likely be faced, in the succeeding period?

In other words, if we're going to defer some costs from the current period or the near-term period out into the medium-term period, did you undertake any analysis at all as to what kind of cost or rate pressures people would be expected to face in the medium-term period?

MR. HALPERIN:  The business plan typically does have a five-year forecast horizon, so it would reflect in future years any of those costs that would have been deferred out of the early time period.

So yes, it would be there, and the rate outlook that we discussed this morning would have been captured in a forecast of the rate outlook.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And here's the problem I am having, and I invite you to assist me in any way you can.

Did you have any information that would suggest to you that all sorts of different components of a rolled-up electricity price -- and including your own costs -- aren't going to, in fact, be directionally higher, almost across the board, in the medium term, as opposed to the near term?

I mean, where I am getting at is there doesn't –- intuitively, it doesn't seem to me there is any greater likelihood that deferring these costs are going to move them to a period where they're going to be any more acceptable than they are today.

What intelligence did you have that suggested to you that that was an achievable outcome?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, I am not... I'm not sure how to...

We look at the trends of OM&A costs over the period for the business units, but I would say at this point we were largely focussed on the short term at this stage, when we were trying to impart this message about the need for cost restraint.

Clearly, there always will be -- any time you defer a project, it will move into a future period, and you have to deal with it at that point.

I'm not sure I am answering your question, though.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, it is a tough -- I think it is a tough question because it is a tough problem.  I mean, the concern I have is it makes sense to defer costs from a high-cost period to a lower-cost period, but why does it make sense to defer costs from a high-cost period to an even higher-cost period in the future?

I mean, isn't that just sticking our heads in the sand?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I think at the time that we were doing the plan, it didn't necessarily show a constantly increasing level of costs.

For example, on the nuclear OM&A, we knew that 2009 and 2010 were high-cost periods because of the significant outages that were being undertaken, the vacuum building outages that were being undertaken in '09 and '10.

We -- the forecast at the time indicated that '11 and '12 did provide some relief from that cost level.  So I am not sure it's -- you characterizing it as monotonically always increasing is necessarily true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Just to be -- I am not going to beat this any farther, but the period we're talking about now isn't '11 and '12.  That is the period from which these costs have been deferred; right?  You were going
to -- all things being equal, they would have gone in in the '11 and '12 period, and now you have deferred them out of the '11 and '12 period.

So what we are really talking about is '13 and '14; right?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  Or beyond.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Or beyond.  Right.  And I guess the question is, what comfort can you provide the Board, if any, that these costs are going to be more digestible in '13 and '14 than they were in '11 and '12?

MR. HALPERIN:  To the extent that we are continuing to pursue cost reduction opportunities across the board within the company, it provides us some confidence that the cost levels that we are seeing right now, perhaps, for '13, '14 and '15, you know, may not be the ultimate cost levels that we would be looking at a year from now.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So we hope for the best?

MR. HALPERIN:  And we will continue to implement initiatives to reduce our ongoing costs.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Mr. Rubin, I believe you are next.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:


MR. RUBIN:  Panel, I'm Norman Rubin.  I am here representing Energy Probe.

My notes and I believe your evidence say that Mr. Bell and Mr. Reeve were members of the 2009 depreciation review committee; is that correct?

MR. REEVE: That's correct.

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Are you both still on it?

MR. BELL:  Yes, we are.

MR. REEVE: Yes.

MR. RUBIN:  There is a mention in one of the interrogatories -- I assume we don't have to go there, well, either way -- that past reviews have given 74 percent coverage for nuclear assets, and that the remaining significant nuclear asset class reviews are expected to be substantially completed by the end of 2010.

You don't need to see that to agree with the substance, do you?

MR. BELL:  No.  I agree with that.

MR. RUBIN:  And have they been completed?  Have the rest of the nuclear assets been reviewed now?

MR. BELL:  We've covered off the significant classes.  That has been completed.

And then there is basically minor fixed asset items that we've started this year to complete, but they make up a smaller percentage of the overall asset base for nuclear, and they aren't specifically attached to the station.

Those are sort of the tools and equipment types of classes.

So we're -- in this year's depreciation review committee, we will be undertaking to review the minor fixed asset classes.  So that is basically where we left off from last year.

MR. RUBIN:  And this 74 percent, are you telling me that the other 26 percent is these minor -- this minor class?  Or is there a difference between where you stand now, which is higher than 74 percent, and the quote I read, I referred to?

MR. BELL:  Probably the minor fixed asset group or class make up the majority of the difference.  There will be some smaller items making up probably, if I was to estimate, a small percentage of the remaining items to go.

So I think the biggest group of items are the minor fixed assets.

MR. RUBIN:  I guess I am puzzled.  You've got some nuclear generating stations that are certainly large assets, and I am trying to picture some of your tools, and other -- you've got gizmos that do things like SLAR, and you are telling me that those represent something like 26 percent of all your undepreciated nuclear assets, or am I missing something?

MR. BELL:  They're not making up the entire difference between the 74 percent, I believe, and the 100 percent.  They're making up --


MR. RUBIN:  More than 20 percent?

MR. BELL:  I don't have the number, specifically, but...

MR. RUBIN:  Can you just help?  I don't mean to be dense here, but can you just help me understand what's that big?

MR. BELL:  I think one of the -- well, one of the most significant classes is service equipment, and that covers a range of types of items to service the plant, fuel handling equipment.  There can be a variety of items.  That tends to be one of our biggest classes of minor fixed asset items, service equipment.

MR. RUBIN:  So the 74 percent that was completed when your evidence was produced included the stations?  Is that -- am I right?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Can one of you gentlemen answer me a kind of sky-level, top-level question, and that is:  When you are choosing your end of service life for generating assets - and I tend to focus on the nuclear ones, but you don't have to - do you apply a bias?  Do you apply a burden of proof, other than trying to put down the number that represents your most confident sort of median 50 percent estimate of when the thing will actually stop producing useful output?

MR. BELL:  Let me just make sure I understood the question.

You are looking to understand what sort of support or evidence for support for station life in terms of proof, or the amount --


MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  I'm looking for burden of proof, and I am specifically looking for what I would call bias.  I don't mean that in a nasty sense, but I just mean do you try to err in one direction or another, or do you try to aim for the middle of the bull's eye and say, This is what we really expect to happen and either side would be a surprise?

MR. BELL:  First of all, the assessments -- I guess what I was trying to get at is the approach and the support for the decisions on station lives comes from the technical side, the engineering group.  And they provide an assessment as to what is reasonable, what is most likely, what do we have a certain degree of confidence in achieving?

And that is the basis of establishing the service lives.

MR. RUBIN:  And when you say what they have confidence in achieving, that suggests to me what I think I would call a prudent bias, that, in other words, it suggests to me that if you -- if a station might operate till the year X, but realistically it is quite likely that it won't, you will put in an earlier date, because you are more confident of that earlier date.

Is that how you are treating this evidence and confidence issue?

MR. BELL:  No, I'm not sure that is fair.  That implies a certain degree of adjusting an estimate to be more conservative.

Overall, the support we're using comes from our technical side and it has to sort of pass the audit test, if you will.  We don't err or put a contingency one way or the other.  We provide a number that is supported based on process going through engineering.

So it is really more of a best estimate number for determining station life, if that is the particular decision or estimate being supported.

MR. RUBIN:  When you say it has to pass the audit test, are you referring to the DRC and the role of auditor of those engineering estimates, or do you mean the corporate auditor, or whose test is it?

MR. BELL:  I think there is a series of tests that go through this process.  It follows -- the DRC committee is part of the due process, and, as you are likely familiar, made up of representatives from the business and senior management levels in the company.

So it goes through rigour through the DRC committee process, and ultimately the estimates are approved and signed off.

As well, our external auditors will look at the support we use and have for estimates, and they will look at our process and make sure the estimates are supported.

MR. RUBIN:  Let me take you to a document.  It is an undertaking response, L-1-116, and it is under issue 6.11.

And on page -- on page 3 of 4, the context of the sentence I want to look at, the context is you are estimating the end of life for the Bruce reactors, and there is an obvious relationship between that date and the nominal end of service of the pressure tubes in those reactors.  Correct me if I am wrong or unfair.

And under Arabic number 2 and Roman small "i" or 1, it says that among the additional evaluations OPG performs after -- I am paraphrasing here, but after calculating the nominal end of life dates, it says, and I quote now:
"Assessment of any evidence that may suggest that the 'nominal life' dates are not based on high confidence and therefore should be moved earlier."


Do you see that quote, and I got it right, did I?

MR. BELL:  Yes.  I am just looking at the -- numeral 2 you were saying?

MR. RUBIN:  No.  Yes, Arabic 2 at the top of page 3 of 4.

MR. BELL:  Okay.

MR. RUBIN:  And the first numbered bullet point under that, Roman 1?

MR. BELL:  Okay.

MR. RUBIN:  And that's the kind -- that strikes me as presenting a conservative bias, which you've said that, in general, you don't do.

In other words, it's saying that, We've got nominal life dates for end of pressure tube life, but if there is any evidence suggesting that those dates are not based on high confidence, then, therefore, we should move our end of life dates earlier.  Is that not what Roman 1 says?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Can you, first of all, just help me reconcile how you would say that this is what you do, and also tell me that you don't apply a conservative bias to your end of life estimates?

MR. BELL:  Okay.  I think one of the principles that we follow for making any changes for accounting purposes is whether we can say there is high confidence.  And, therefore, we need to have a fairly high level of support before changing something earlier.

So the assessment is basically the life wouldn't be changed earlier unless there was enough confidence or support around a decision to move the life to an earlier date.

So I would suggest that that statement's basically reconciling that principle.  Before making any change to an estimate, there must be a fairly certain or high degree of confidence.  And a change in this case would be moving an estimate to a shorter life.  There would have to be a reason, and enough support around that reason for making the change.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, with respect, if you compare Roman 1 and Roman 2, I read them as being parallel, but different, or perhaps anti-parallel, for those who are math geeks.

Roman 2 is saying:  Here's what would happen before we would extend the expected life.  And Roman 1 is saying:  Here's what would cause us to move it earlier.

So they're talking about changes in the two directions.  And it seems to me they're applying different tests.

MR. BELL:  I think, to respond, one is suggesting a shorter life, and conversely, Roman 2 is suggesting if there is a possibility for extending life, again, the same principle would be applied.  There would have to be high confidence and support for extending that pressure tube life.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, that is exactly what I read in Roman 2, is OPG wants to evaluate and assess whether there is sufficient, if any, evidence that there is high confidence that these nominal life dates... could be exceeded.  And that sounds to me exactly like what you are describing.

But if we turn back to Roman 1, that is not what I read.  I read that you want to assess evidence that the nominal life dates aren't based on high confidence, and therefore that you should shorten the end of life.

That's not based on high confidence that the life is shorter.  It is based on the absence of high confidence that you've got it right.

Am I not reading the English correctly?

MR. BELL:  I think what we're saying and trying to say is that if we're going to move from the status quo, if something is at a nominal life date, and if something comes to our attention, saying that we don't have confidence with this existing date, a change should be made, a change from the status quo should be made.

I think that is probably the way to look at I and II, in terms of the relationship.

We basically hold status quo and not make change until there is support and certainty around that change.

MR. RUBIN:  Let me give you an out here.

Would you be more comfortable if Roman 1 were written the way 2 is written?  In other words, that it said that:  We would shorten the life, move it -- move the date earlier, if we had high confidence that that was correct?  Rather than saying that we would do it if we didn't have confidence that our present estimate was correct?

MR. BELL:  I think they both imply the same meaning.

MR. RUBIN:  Surely it's not the same to say you have high confidence that a number is wrong, and saying that you lack high confidence that it is right?  You don't treat those as synonymous, do you?

MR. BELL:  I think, as I say, I think they're both suggesting that only a change would be made if and when something comes to attention.  I think that is implied by 1.  We follow the existing date.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Let me come back to something that you have said to me today and that I think comes out of the reports, as well, and see if you agree with me.

I want to put it to you that there is a bias and that the bias is to leave everything where it was last time, unless there is high confidence to justify changing a number in either direction.

Does that sound right?

MR. BELL:  I am not sure there is a bias.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, I think I am using a pejorative word where I don't intend anything pejorative.

But is it not your practice to leave end-of-service-life dates where they are, unless you have high confidence to justify a change in either direction?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I want to turn this high-level -- drop us down a few thousand feet of altitude, and talk about the end-of-service date for the Pickering A generating stations.

And I guess my general question to you there is -- well, let's start with some specifics.

The end-of-service date for the station is now 2021; is that -- isn't that correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct, for Pickering A.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  And I guess my first question to you is just on a standing here and talking to me basis, and sworn under oath while you are at it, do you have confidence that Pickering A will operate into 2021?

MR. BELL:  Right now there is nothing to suggest a change to that date.  And that has already been a date that has been established, that life date of 2021.

MR. RUBIN:  Is it fair to say that if you were starting with a blank tablet today, and picking an end-of-service date for Pickering A, you would be unlikely to pick 2021?

MR. BELL:  I think, without -- as I say, a lot of our assessment is based on technical inputs.  Based on what I know and would say, 2021 would still be a date that would be acceptable.

MR. RUBIN:  My question wasn't whether it's acceptable, or whether it's defensible in a pinch.

My question is whether it is your best estimate of Pickering A's end-of-service-life, or whether it is the result of history and the burden of proof that I think you have already told me you have, which is to leave the numbers where they are, unless you can meet the burden to change them.

Which is it?  Is it your best estimate?  Or is it the number we have adopted, and we don't quite meet the burden yet to change it?

MR. BELL:  I think you look at an estimate two ways, based on whatever information you have around it.

So in terms of the information for Pickering A, and any new information that there may be to support any possible change, I think the most reasonable and best estimate would be 2021.

MR. RUBIN:  So you're telling me that if you started with a blank canvas and tried to pick a date for how long Pickering A is going to operate, you would pick 2021; is that what I'm hearing?

MR. KEIZER:  But isn't the point, though, he can't start with a blank canvas?  So I am not quite sure that the hypothetical is a fair one.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, Mr. Keizer, I think it is reasonable for this regulatory Panel to turn its mind to whether we are looking at a high likelihood of unusual write-offs, whether estimates on which depreciation figures are based are reasonable or prudent, or not so reasonable and prudent.

I think those are all reasonable questions for this hearing.

MR. KEIZER:  And I think he has given an answer about what he believed the life of Pickering A is.  I don't know how many more times he has to answer the same question.

MR. RUBIN:  Let me just clear off a couple of theories that I think you will want to dismiss.

One is that in choosing end of service lives, you are trying to -- I believe you have already told me you are not trying to be conservative or prudent in the sense of underestimating, erring on the side of early retirements to make sure you are avoiding those write-offs when something goes wrong; is that correct?  You are not doing that?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And is it fair to say that you are also not doing the opposite?  You are not trying to minimize rate impacts by being overly optimistic about end of service life in order to decrease -- for example, in order to decrease annual depreciation costs; is that true?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Let me take you to part of your evidence.  It is your Exhibit F4-01-01, depreciation and amortization, attachment 1 on page 6, which is page 15 in the PDF file.

Do you have it?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBIN:  And this is your latest report from this depreciation review committee; correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And I am interested in the passage on Pickering A, and the bottom line is where it starts, that you are recommending that its service life date for depreciation purposes remain unchanged; correct?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And you then go on to discuss this technical input that you have been talking about as your input, and is it fair to say the next paragraph or so list a number of technical and regulatory reasons for why this date may not be achieved?  Is that fair?

MR. BELL:  Sorry, which paragraph under Pickering A was it?  Was it the second paragraph?

MR. RUBIN:  Well, let's focus on the second one, sure.

MR. BELL:  It points out that there are certain challenges to operate Pickering A after the last two units of Pickering B in that second paragraph.

MR. RUBIN:  And it is fair to say that nobody has any plans at OPG to operate Pickering B past 2020; isn't that correct?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And the last sentence of that paragraph we are looking at says that, basically, when Pickering B shuts down, there is a high probability that Pickering A will shut down.  Isn't that what it says?

MR. BELL:  Sorry.  I am just catching up to your last sentence here, sorry.

There is a high probability Pickering A would prove uneconomical to operate without Pickering B units in operation; that's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  And that means Pickering A would shut down.  You are not planning to run it when it is uneconomical to do so, are you?

MR. BELL:  I would suggest it is a probability.  It is not in our plan, as it stands right now, to operate A without two units of B; that's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, wouldn't it violate your value-for-money cornerstone to operate a plant that is uneconomical to operate?  I mean, are you telling me that this "prove uneconomical to operate" is not synonymous with be shut down, stop operating?

MR. BELL:  Well, there is the B continued operation scenario, which talks about the possibility of extending B out to the 2020 date.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, only to 2020.

MR. BELL:  Only to 2020.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  So my question is here:  On whatever date it is that Pickering B stops operating, doesn't this sentence basically tell us that Pickering A will presumably stop operating?

MR. BELL:  It does suggest that; you're correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And isn't it fair to say that according to OPG's current outlook and plans, there is essentially zero probability that Pickering B will operate past 2020?

MR. BELL:  That would be, I believe, a fair statement, as it is not in our plan for B to go beyond 2020.

MR. RUBIN:  So doesn't it follow from this that if you didn't have what I've called a bias -- but I won't do that again.  If you didn't have this preference for leaving all the numbers where they were last year unless you could meet a high burden of proof, if you didn't have that, wouldn't you choose 2020 as the farthest stretch date for the likely or reasonably likely operation of Pickering A, rather than the end of 2021?

MR. BELL:  I think it goes back to what I was saying earlier in terms of support.  If we did move A back to 2020, it would imply that we're reasonably certain that we have enough confidence that B will go out to 2020.

I mean, that is in a business plan right now for B to go to 2020, but it is more of a strategic estimate.  There isn't the same level of confidence that we would have from an accounting point of view that B would go out to 2020.

So, in summary, if we were looking at A and making a change to 2020, the level of confidence for supporting that change isn't high.  Really -- really what we've discussed is the link between Pickering A and Pickering B, and there is no question we have agreed there is a link, and it is stated in this area that you have pushed on.

So I think, in summary, if there is that link, logically until we have assurance as to what Pickering B life will land on, we wouldn't make a change to Pickering A until we get the Pickering B high level of confidence.  So it is --


MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt.

I don't want to spend forever on this, but I hear you saying that you are not sure that Pickering B is going to get its continued operation going, and, therefore, it may shut down in 2016 and not 2020.

And, therefore, you don't have high confidence in a substitute date to replace 2021 with, and, for that reason, you are leaving it there; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.  The date that we have for Pickering B right now is an average unit life date of 2014.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.  Let me turn --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Rubin, I would like to understand a little better.  What we are left with coming out of the DRC report is OPG's view of where the highest confidence is, Pickering A going to 2021 and Pickering B starting to close in 2014, which seems to be quite contrary to the evidence of the nuclear panel, which basically said unless Pickering B continues, Pickering A will shut down.

So there seems to be an inconsistency between the depreciation view of the world and the technical -- the prior technical panel that appeared before us.

MR. REEVE:  I think what the nuclear panel stated is the current plan for Pickering B is to pursue continued operations, which would take us to 2020, and they did make comments, you are absolutely right, that it is unlikely in the current plan we would continue after 2020.

They did confirm the link between Pickering A and Pickering B.

What Mr. Bell is saying is for accounting purposes, we don't have a level of confidence to change the life of Pickering B beyond 2014.  We'll have that when we complete certain regulatory work, certain studies in the 2012 period.  And at that point, we would be able to cement the link.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So if you don't have the confidence to extend Pickering B, how can you continue to have confidence that Pickering A can last till 2021, when your technical people have told us that it is highly unlikely that Pickering A would run without Pickering B running?

MR. REEVE: That's correct.  And the issue we have is one of accounting, is having that high confidence around the life of the -- the link between A and B, until B has been -- for accounting, we have established a high level of confidence.  And at that point, we could create the link.

It would be premature to move the life of Pickering A -- if you follow that logic for accounting, we could move the life of Pickering A forward to 2014.  If we didn't have the Pickering B continued operations in our plan, to then in two year's time move the depreciation life back out again, that is one of the reasons for having this higher bar for accounting, to ensure that we don't have volatility in depreciation life.  That is not the intent.

The purpose of depreciation for accounting is to spread the cost of the asset over its life.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So one of the objectives is to avoid sort of abrupt changes, which might be need to be reversed in a fairly short period?

MR. REEVE: It is a consideration, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But help me again.  My understanding of how I should interpret this report is that the state of affairs with which the depreciation people have the highest confidence, is that Pickering B will start to shut with an average date of 2014, and Pickering A will continue till 2021.

So that from the accounting depreciation view, that's where the highest confidence is.

MR. REEVE: That's from -- from an operations standpoint, I would agree.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Even though that seems to be pretty contradictory to the evidence that we have heard, as to the most likely outcome of how these two plants operate.

MR. REEVE: And I would agree there is evidence that suggests Pickering B will go -- our plan is to take it to 2020.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No, no, not even so much that.  But just that Pickering A would not go any longer than Pickering B.

So however Pickering B shut down operations, as and when it was no longer running, then Pickering A would also conclude its operations?

MR. REEVE: And I would agree that is what is on the evidence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. RUBIN:  Let's -- I am going to try to dispose of -- are we rising at 12:00?  What is our schedule.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No.  We can go till 12:30.

MR. RUBIN:  I am hoping that I will wrap up soon.

Looking at page 6 of your DRC report, here I am looking at a paragraph in which you recommend that the average service life for depreciation purposes of the four units at Darlington be changed to December 31st, 2051.

Am I reading that right?

MR. BELL:  Yes.  You are on page -- we are on page 6?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. BELL:  Yes, that is the -- I am not sure -- oh, it is at the start there.  I see it under "Darlington."  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And can you explain to me how that meets your test of high confidence, when, as I understand it, the decision to proceed with the Darlington refurbishment hasn't been made yet, and won't be made until 2014 at the earliest?

MR. BELL:  There is a commitment made, I guess, if we look at it in terms of layers, but probably the first layer to look at would be in terms of the commitment made from our board and the province to proceed with the next phase of Darlington, the definition phase.

So that would be one thing that provides confidence, that there will be a change.  There is a commitment from the board and the province to proceed with this initiative.

And then in terms of looking at other information and layers, basically you can look at our operating experience with similar CANDU plants.  This 30-year, roughly or approximately, life is consistent with what we expect just from our existing operating experience.  That's in terms of our knowledge and information from our own plants, as well as the industry experience that we have gained.

We are one of the oldest operators of CANDU worldwide.

So in summary, there is nothing to suggest that that service life of 2051 couldn't be reached.  There is a commitment.  There is some technical background and support around that, and OPG is a player in the industry and a leading player to provide that support.

MR. RUBIN:  Would you would you agree with me that none of your plants has reached 30-years life, either after construction or after refurbishment?

MR. BELL:  I think that would be a correct statement, subject to check.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Can you -- would you agree with me that there is no corporate commitment to proceed with the refurbishment of Darlington?  There is only a corporate commitment to proceed with the definition phase so far?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And in the case of the continued operation of Pickering B, you have decided -- well, let's go back to that.

Isn't there a commitment to a kind of definition phase, to take a number of extensive and elaborate steps in the case of Pickering B, to try to get to the point of commitment on the continued operation program there?  But no commitment to actually do it yet?

MR. BELL:  I think that is...

MR. REEVE: As I understand it, there are -- there are expenditures in our business plan to pursue continued operations.

The slight difference for accounting is we're not capitalizing those dollars for Pickering B continued operations.  This is largely maintenance exploratory work.  Until we have some certainty around the future benefit of that, we can't capitalize that expenditure.

So there is a little bit of difference from an accounting standpoint, but we are still, yes, proceeding with work.  It is in our plan to achieve continued operations.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, perhaps you can help me understand the difference between the treatment of the continued operations program at Pickering B and the refurbishment at Darlington, because frankly, I would have expected the accounting treatment to either be the same or go in the opposite direction.

So please take that as an invitation to help me.

But in addition, I hear that last answer as telling me that because I am paying for the early steps in defining the project at Pickering B, I am paying for them out of OM&A, rather than their being capitalized for future ratepayers.  Because of that, it is reasonable for me to also pay for a faster depreciation of Pickering B.

And that doesn't sound like compensation to me.

MR. REEVE:  So what we're saying for Pickering B is the expenditures relate largely to maintenance and exploratory-type work, which we wouldn't ordinarily capitalize for depreciation.  That this is work really to establish whether continuing operations can be achieved at Pickering B.  Until we have high confidence that that can be done, we wouldn't -- we wouldn't be extending life or depreciation equally.  We wouldn't be capitalizing the expenditures to achieve that, not until we reach the point in around 2012, I believe is what is in evidence, that we have high confidence that we have completed the necessary steps, the expenditures on the pressure tube study and various other regulatory steps to achieve continued operations.

MR. RUBIN:  But the evidence we have heard on the Darlington refurbishment certainly doesn't establish that level of confidence that that project will be approved and will go ahead, and much less that it will achieve a 30-year life extension.

MR. REEVE:  If you look --


MR. RUBIN:  So how do you reconcile that?  Help me.

MR. REEVE: If you can look at the prefiled evidence that was on the Darlington refurbishment panel, the approval from the board, the concurrence from the shareholder, was for the definition phase of the project.  We, at that point, have high confidence those expenditures will result in an extension of life, and it is really -- that's probably the key difference in answer to your question, is whether you think -- whether we think, rather, the expenditures that we're incurring will result in an extension of life, or not.

We don't have that level of confidence with the Pickering B work that we're doing.

With the Darlington refurbishment, we have, as you heard from the panel members, completed some level of work to have a confidence in moving forward with that project, but you are right, there is still work that needs to be completed.

MR. RUBIN:  So at least from an accounting point of view, you're telling me that we have more confidence -- or you have more confidence that the Darlington nuclear generating station will be operating through the year 2051 than you do -- than you have confidence that Pickering A won't be operating in the year 2021?

MR. REEVE:  I am just trying to think through your -- there are a couple of double negatives in your question.

The Darlington refurb, as evidenced in the depreciation review committee report that we were discussing earlier, does suggest there is a high level of confidence around Darlington.

We have had fairly extensive discussion on Pickering A.  I would say we have high confidence that we can't change the 2021 date for Pickering A at this point until we resolve some of the uncertainty that exists around Pickering B.

MR. RUBIN:  I guess, I mean, I'm not an accountant, obviously, but I don't see the yo-yo -- you explained this fear of volatility.

I don't see -- help me find a fear of volatility that would keep you from at least chiselling one year off the estimated end of service life of Pickering A, because I don't think anybody expects it to be operating in 2021.

It may be operating in 2020 if a bunch of things go right, but if you nibbled off one year now, and then found later that it made sense to nibble it down to 2014, is that the feared volatility?  That sounds smooth to me.

MR. REEVE:  I think the volatility that I referred to earlier was in the context of not achieving continued operations, but in the scenario that you described, we've created the link between A and B.  We acknowledge that link exists.

What we've said is that until we have high confidence around the Pickering B, the success of the Pickering B continued operations project, which will have -- as noted in the evidence in 2012, it would be premature to create that link between the two.

I guess another consideration is that with -- our plan is to pursue continued operations.  Were we not to achieve it, there may be other scenarios that we would pursue around Pickering A.

But at this point, Pickering B continued operations is in our plan, and that is why we have the link that we have described in our depreciation review committee report and in our evidence.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, thank you for that.

A quick question.  You refer a couple of times to the deep geological repository at Kincardine, and you say it will -- your evidence says it will commence construction in 2012.  Can anybody tell me whether expenses for that project appear somewhere in the evidence?

MR. REEVE:  I'm sorry, is there a particular reference that you are looking at there?

MR. RUBIN:  I can steer you to the -- oh, actually, I've got a reference to your website that says it is going to commence construction in 2012.  I will accept an answer that that is not true, if that's not true, or perhaps Mr. Keizer can help me just find the evidence.

I am just wondering.  I didn't notice it, but I haven't read every page.  Are the witnesses aware of --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, if I could assist, maybe the nuclear liability panel may be the best to be able to speak to that aspect.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Do you think it is in that evidence or...  Anyway...

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure specifically what aspect of the geological repository that you are referring to, but I think that likely that panel is the best to be able to respond.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.

In actually two responses to interrogatories from Energy Probe, changing topic here, you state -- let me just quote.  I don't think we have to go there, "OPG policy requires rounding", this is of your weighted average cost of capital number, your discount rate, "rounding to the nearest percent.

And it is currently 7 percent; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.  That's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  Can you tell me why it makes sense to use only one significant digit for a number like this?

MR. HALPERIN:  I can't speak to that, no.

MR. RUBIN:  You would agree that the weighted average cost of capital, when you are estimating the net present value of a long-term project, you would agree that it has a fair amount of leverage in terms of how the project looks, wouldn't you?

MR. HALPERIN:  Certainly.  But, again, I could only speculate on the rationale for that.  I am not that familiar with the details of the policy, but I would imagine if you are working far out, you are working with a lot of numbers over a long period of time, and introducing fluctuations in the discount rate in the first decimal place would probably lead to some volatility over time.

I don't think you want to imply -- it could lend itself to some implied precision that may not be there when you are making the valuations, but...

MR. RUBIN:  You would agree that actual -- the kind of discount rates that, for example, the private sector is using, that they have changed lately?  People have a different attitude toward capital since the market crash, for example.  I guess that is volatility, but isn't that also reality?

Don't you want to reflect reality in your business planning, rather than smooth it over?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think these questions might be better answered by the cost of capital panel, who would be more conversant with it.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Can you gentlemen just tell me if the 7 percent is the result of rounding up or rounding down?

MR. KEIZER:  Can my friend share the interrogatory just so we make sure we all have the right context?

MR. RUBIN:  Sure.  I believe more or less the same quote appears in two of them, and they're L-6-02 and L-6-03.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Which issue, Mr. Rubin?

MR. RUBIN:  Oh, I beg your pardon.  You ask good questions.

MR. KEIZER:  L-6-02 is issue 1.2.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MR. HALPERIN:  I am just confirming one number here.  Just one second, please.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. HALPERIN:  Based on the calculations provided or the numbers provided in L-6-2, the unrounded number is 6.99.

[Laughter]


MR. RUBIN:  Perhaps I will end my questions on rounding with that answer.  Thank you, panel.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have about 30 to 35 minutes.  Do you want me to start now or after lunch?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't you start now?  Because we will need to break at 12:30, and I will need to go till 1:30, so I would prefer to keep the lunch to an hour, so if you could find a reasonable place to break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a couple of follow-up questions.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I have met some of you before, I think.  I just want to -- I have a couple of follow-up questions, just to understand some of your previous cross-examination.

You were talking with Mr. Rubin earlier today about fuel-handling equipment.  You are talking about the DRC report and about the minor fixed assets.  Do you recall?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said -- I think you said the fuel-handling equipment is included in the minor fixed assets; right?


MR. BELL:  I did.  I thought that was included.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I thought the fuel-handling equipment was an in-line fuelling system that was actually attached to the station.  Am I wrong?

MR. BELL:  I would have to check the technical details on that.  There may be differences.  I'm not sure.  I'm not sure exactly the nature of that equipment, what it entails.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you said that the minor fixed assets are not attached to any station; right?  But your in-line fuelling is a system that is attached, is part of the station; right?

MR. BELL:  I am not sure, from the technical --responding from a technical point of view, on specifically what the nature of that equipment is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then I wonder if you could just undertake to tell us.  All I want to know is:  Is the in-line fuel-handling equipment stuff that is included already in the depreciation review?  Or included in the stuff you haven't done yet?

Can you do that?

MR. BELL:  I can tell you -- and I will do that, and I can tell you, just in terms of a high-level, the nature of minor fixed assets are that they're not necessarily attached to the site.  So there might be tools, in other words, related to fuel type of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why I'm asking the question.  Because I am anticipating your answer is going to be:  No, the in-line fuel system has been done already.  It is part of the 76 percent.  And it is only the portable fuel-handling materials that are included in the 24 percent.

I am assuming that is going to be your answer, but I would like you to confirm that, if you could.

MR. BELL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.4:  to CONFIRM WHETHER IN-LINE FUEL-HANDLING EQUIPMENT IS INCLUDED IN DEPRECIATION REVIEW OR INCLUDED IN ACTIONS NOT YET COMPLETED.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the second clean-up is with respect to this discussion you had about the lives of Pickering A and Pickering B, which I listened to with -- I was most interested.

I have a couple of questions about that.

First of all, generally speaking, the lives you use for the depreciation, the DRC report, those lives are the same lives you use for decommissioning and fuel disposal; right?

When you are determining when you are going to have to do those things, same life as depreciation; right?


MR. REEVE:  Just one -- yes, but there is one slight caveat on that, in terms of the decommissioning and used waste management lines with the last of the four units rather than the average of the unit life, which is what we used for depreciation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- no, the reason I ask that is because, for example, we saw when we were talking with panel 7 that if you extend Darlington to 2051, that doesn't just reduce your depreciation expense this year, but it also pushes back your ARO; right?  Your asset retirement obligation?

MR. REEVE: It pushes out the decommissioning aspects of the ARO; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. REEVE: But it also results in an increased number of fuel bundles that need to be managed as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which are also pushed out, but are pushed out at a higher starting point?

MR. REEVE: That's correct.  But they tend to offset the impact of the decommissioning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your decision to leave Pickering B at 2014, does that mean that you are going to start decommissioning it 30 years after that?  Or is Pickering B part of the same decommissioning decision as Pickering A?  That is, whatever the longer of the two, that is when you decommission the whole shebang?

MR. REEVE: I would have to check, to be honest with you.  And I am just wondering if that is a question that is better put to the nuclear liabilities, the cost of capital and nuclear liabilities panel.  I guess it depends on your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I was just getting a sense of how big the impact is of these depreciation decisions.

I mean, it is not just a question of changing the amount of your depreciation for the year; right?  If you make a decision about the life of a station, you change the depreciation and you change the decommissioning cost?

MR. REEVE: I agree, it has -- we had this discussion around Darlington refurb.  It does have an impact for depreciation, our asset retirement obligation, the knock on impact on asset retirement cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The second part of that is the Chair asked you some questions about this disjunct between A and B, and if they're supposed to be in lockstep, how come they're not.

I take it that is because of a particular accounting rule.  You have a particular accounting rule as to when and under what circumstances you are allowed to change the depreciation life of an asset; right?

MR. REEVE:  We have an accounting rule that is in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  And there is no reason, is there, no particular reason why the regulatory accounting would have to be -- would have to match?  The regulatory accounting, the depreciation rate you use for regulatory purposes could be different; right?


MR. REEVE:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, if your evidence is they should be in lockstep, then they could both be set to 2020 for regulatory purposes, even though your accounting can't do that quite yet?

MR. REEVE: That's correct.  You cannot change the accounting in accordance with the depreciation review committee report.

But if there were a different decision for regulatory purposes, then we would have to track that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the other part related to that is -- and Mr. Rubin asked you the question.  I understood your answer to be that you are more confident that Darlington will be operating to 2051 than you are that Pickering B will be operating to 2020.

That's currently the status; right?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do I also -- and you have been very clear in panel 7 that you are not asking this Board to approve the Darlington refurbishment.  That's not --


MR. REEVE:  Panel 6.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- part of their job today, or this time around?

MR. REEVE:  I'm sorry, in the context of panel 6?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. REEVE:  The --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am completely lost on what panel I am on.

[Laughter]

MR. REEVE:  There was a discussion around the approval of the Darlington refurbishment project; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are not asking for approval of that.  But I am right, am I not, that the depreciation expense and the asset retirement expense in the current application for Darlington assume that Darlington will be refurbished?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if this Board approves the depreciation expense and the asset retirement expense –- or, sorry, the decommissioning expense, it is on the assumption that Darlington refurbishment will take place?

MR. REEVE:  From an accounting standpoint, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the other thing I wanted to clean up or clear up -- maybe I was right the first time -- is you had a discussion with Mr. Stephenson about top-down versus bottom-up budgeting.

And I took the discussion to be about whether there is always a tension between what people want to spend and what they're allowed to spend; fair?

MR. HALPERIN:  Fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when we asked panel 2 -- panel 2 is benchmarking; right?  When we asked panel 2 -- now I am tentative about it -- when we asked panel 2 about this, my impression was that budgeting has changed in a conceptual way at OPG, because of the top-down approach, the conceptual change being the sort of private sector notion that there is only so much money.  Here's how much money there is to spend.  We are not going to spend more than that.

There is more of that now than there used to be; right?


MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the old style of budget approvals was everybody had to justify their spending; true?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is sort of like a government department; right?  In government, you have to go and say, This is what we need to spend to do the job, and you have to justify it; right?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the new style is more of a competition for limited funds; isn't that true?

MR. HALPERIN:  I would say that's true at the business unit level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  At the business unit level?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because the business unit is given a sort of an envelope - it may be a soft envelope, but it is an envelope - this is how much you can spend, and then within the business unit they have to figure out -- they have to compete for which projects are we going to do this year?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  And just to finish this off, my impression was - and tell me whether this is right - that as a practical matter, at OPG budgeting is different now.  This is not just a question of we're using a new theory.  You are actually doing it differently.  You are approaching it -- it is like a difference in corporate culture; right?

MR. HALPERIN:  To a degree, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you expand on that?  Do you mean you haven't finished the change yet, or there are some resisters?   What do you mean?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, no.  I think it is different.  For example, in the past, when it was more of a pure bottom-up process, for example, the corporate functions that contribute to supporting the regulated entities, their plans were largely based on the work, the services, they had to provide to fulfill their duties and obligations.

And in previous business plans, for example, there were not specific constraints on them, but they were generally allowed perhaps an inflation adjustment in their work programs.

Starting with these business plan instructions, we took a more aggressive role on a top-down direction for the corporate functions where we said basically they had to freeze their nominal 2010 budgets and live with that nominal envelope over the next few years.

So this was a change for them, because it basically -- it clearly meant that if you are dealing with inflationary pressures on your labour bill, it meant you needed to think about how you were going to reduce staff in the future, or think about ways to do your work cheaper in order to live within that more fixed envelope.

That was a fundamental change that took place in this business planning process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have had some resistance to that presumably from some of the business units?

MR. HALPERIN:  In my job, I hear a lot of whining and complaining any time we try to be more aggressive, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, that may be a convenient time to break.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  We will rise now until 1:30.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:28 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:45 p.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Are there any preliminary matters before we continue with Mr. Shepherd?


MR. KEIZER:  No, Madam Chair.  Not from us.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Now, I have a booklet of materials for panel 9, which I provided to my friends.


And I apologize that it wasn't sent to OPG yesterday, as normally is the case.  It was sent this morning.  My mistake.


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K10.3, the SEC compendium.

EXHIBIT NO. K10.3:  SEC COMPENDIUM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And hindsight being 20/20, I realized that I should have also included -- several of the questioning areas are things that were punted to this panel from previous panels, and I should have included the original references, as well as the transcripts, which I didn't.


So I will also be referring to our cross-examination materials for panels 1, 2 and 3 at various times.  Next time, I will include it in the current package.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can we have an exhibit number for that, just so we can find it in our reference material?


MR. SHEPHERD:  For 1, 2 and 3?


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just a second.  I have them somewhere.  One is K2.2, two is K3.2, and -- sorry.  Yes, two is K3.2 and three is K5.1.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  We will try to find those for the witnesses.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if I could ask you to turn, first, to the page numbered 2.  By the way, the numbering is in the bottom right of the pages now, because when you put it in the top right, it covers the transcript page numbers.  So it is in the bottom right.


And if you go to page 2 of our materials -- do you have that?


MR. REEVE: Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is Exhibit L-12-39, under Issue 7.3, and this has to do with the Bruce lease.


I just have a couple of questions to try to understand this more clearly.


You have negotiated, essentially, an extension of the Bruce lease; right?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  An agreement was entered late 2008, which essentially extends the lease.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you did a trade-off there, as I understand it.


The cost of decommissioning of the Bruce lease has increased by $212 million; right?  Net present value?


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  That's in part 8 of the response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- but because you are extending it out, as long as they are operating until about 2028, it comes out neutral, somewhere between 2027 and 2028?


MR. REEVE: That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you said:  That is a fair trade-off.  We don't need to ask for anything more in the lease, because we're going to be neutral?


MR. REEVE:  In essence, what happens is through -- a review was undertaken back in 2006, which in essence put a value on the increased decommissioning cost associated with the Bruce.  That was to $212 million that you referred to.


By extending the decommissioning period, it is a present-value concept.  So that value comes down and the break-even point is around 2027, '28.  And as you've noted what we -- what we receive as a result of that agreement is in essence an extension of the lease revenue to at least '27, '28 and potentially beyond that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why it is -- you are assured of 2027 and 2028 is because Bruce can't really afford to close down earlier, unless they have to, because they're going to have to pick up the changed decommissioning costs?  Is that right?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.  There is a schedule that identifies, should they exit the lease early, there is a series of penalties that would be payable to us, were they to exit the lease early.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, these figures in the attached spreadsheet, these are all in 2001 present-value dollars; right?

MR. REEVE:  So if you are looking at the third page of your compendium, which is L-12-039, it is the attachment 1, and if you look at the top of that schedule, you have the 1,025, which is, as you said, the 2001 present value.


And then the row below that is the equivalent updated present value, if you will, which was actually a 2006 number, but taken back to 2001 so you could compare apples with apples.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so then we have farther down, you see some lines:  "2007, PV."  That is where you have taken those numbers and then you put them in 2007 dollars?


MR. REEVE:  Yes.  Apologies there are not line numbers on this.  You see there is a reference to "2007 PV" so that is what I was referring to earlier.


The estimate was done in 2006 using 2007 dollars, and then taken back to 2011 dollars, to draw a meaningful comparison with the original estimate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So my point of these questions is this 1,237, this 1,025, and these numbers under 2027 and 2028, 1,038 and 1,018, these are all consistent 2011 dollars; right?

MR. REEVE: Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no apples-to-oranges comparison there?  They're identical methodology?


MR. REEVE: That's correct.  That was the purpose of the analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.


Then the one other thing I wanted to ask about this is you see in B, in the first bullet, you said there is an updated decommissioning liability cost estimate for each year beyond 2018.


I actually looked on the spreadsheet for the cost estimate.  And I guess these are only the present values; right?  These are not the cost estimate itself?


Somewhere way out on the spreadsheet, 30 years later, is the actual costs that you expect to spend, which these, then, discount; right?

MR. REEVE:  What the schedule shows, yes, it is a present-value concept, but really, each year as you go out, it is intended to capture what the updated cost estimate is, but in present-value terms.


So you won't see the absolute number, per se.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I think I understand that.


Okay.  Can you go, then, to page 4 of our materials?  This is from the transcript from day 2.  It is pages 4 and 5 from the transcript from day 2.


And we asked questions concerning your financial statements, and were told to come back and talk to you guys.  You are the financial statements guys.


And so I wonder if I could just then ask those questions, and to do that, I wonder if you could look at our panel 1 cross-examination materials, which is an excerpt from your Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 2, your financial statement.


It is actually -- I think it is your MD&A, if I am not mistaken.


MR. REEVE:  Do you have a particular page reference?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at -- the number at the bottom is page 24 of that document.  And it is at tab 9 of our panel 1 materials.


MR. REEVE:  A2-1-1, attachment 2, page 24?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Twenty-four.


MR. REEVE:  "Discussion of operating results by business segment"?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So you have a number here, $782 million, which is your total revenues for 2009 from regulated hydroelectric; right?

Do you see that number?


MR. REEVE:  I do, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is your revenue from all sources from regulated hydroelectric; right?  It is not just your power sales, it is everything; right?

I am going to take you to the next page --


MR. REEVE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  Then if you go to the next page in the materials, which is actually page 29 of the exhibit, it is headed up:  "Regulated hydroelectric segment."


Do you see that?


MR. REEVE: Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is, then, the breakdown of the -- that $782 million, regulated generation sales, variance accounts and "other"; right?

MR. REEVE: Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, what we were asking the previous panel was:  Which of these numbers includes segregated mode of operation, water transactions, congestion management credits and ancillary services?  Is that in "other", or is it in variance accounts or is it split?

MR. REEVE:  I would have to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, I expected that because it was punted to your panel, that somebody would have told you I was going to ask the question.

MR. REEVE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So could you undertake to then just tell us how much of each of those was in your 2009 and your 2008 number there on that table?

MR. REEVE:  And just to repeat, it was segregated mode of operations, water...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Water transactions, segregated mode of operations, ancillary services and congestion management credits.

MR. REEVE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J10.5.  Mr. Shepherd you referenced a table.  Just so the court reporter can pick it up, what is the reference for that table?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The table is called "Regulated Hydroelectric Segment", and it has 2009 and 2008, and I am looking for -- there is a number, "Revenue", 782 million in 2009, and 754 in 2008, and where in those numbers above it and how much are those four items?  Can you do that?

MR. REEVE: Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the first one.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.5:  TO PROVIDE HOW MUCH OF EACH OF WATER TRANSACTIONS, SEGREGATED MODE OF OPERATIONS, ANCILLARY SERVICES AND CONGESTION MANAGEMENT CREDITS WAS CONTAINED 2009 AND 2008 NUMBER FROM CHART ENTITLED "REGULATED HYDROELECTRIC SEGMENT".

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if you go two pages along in our panel 9 materials, page 6 of our panel 9 materials, you will see an excerpt from the transcript from day 3.  This is pages 92 and 93 of the transcript from day 3.

And we were asking questions here about your hydroelectric business plan, I believe.  No, about your benchmarking, actually.  And the exhibit we were asking questions about was Exhibit F2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1 at page 16.  And it is at tab 1 of our panel 2 materials.

MR. REEVE:  Could you repeat the reference, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  F2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1 at page 16.  Do you have that?  So the page is headed up "Cost Plan - OM&A Cost Savings".  Do you see that?

MR. REEVE:  Yes, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you see it?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a line in there that says "Impact of Lower Labour Burden Rate", which totals about $173 million over the four years listed.

It is actually the biggest chunk, I think, of the savings that you are forecasting.  So we asked:  What is that?  And they weren't able to tell us what it was, and so they told us to ask you.  So could you help us?

MR. REEVE:  Absolutely.  So I think in the transcript you got into some discussion of this concept of standard labour rates that we use across different job families and that the key drivers of standard labour rates are base salary, there is an adjustment for allowances, but there is also a component that deals with pension and other post-employment benefit costs.

And the key driver of any reduction in standard labour rates would have been that burden percentage.  Really, the driver for that was a change in discount rates.  So discount rates have steadily increased over the period 2007 to 2010, and commensurate rate with that, there has been a reduction in the, if you like, cost of pension and OPEB - other post-employment benefit - for each employee which is embedded in the standard labour rate, and that then leads to a reduction in standard labour rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your standard labour rates have these various burdens that we talked about --


MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- on top of them, and one of those burdens is pensions and OPEB.

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that component has gone down?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually understood that you had evidence that your pension and OPEB costs were going up this year.  Isn't that right?

MR. REEVE:  So just to be clear, the component that is included in standard labour rates is what we call the current service cost, which, in essence, is the cost for any one year for those future benefits for each employee present valued and effectively earned during that period.

There are a number of other impacts of pension and OPEB, which include the interest on the obligation itself, any changes in that which are impacted by discount rates, and there are other impacts that deal with the value of our fund assets.  But it is really only the current service cost piece that flows through -- the burden percentage which flows through standard labour rates.

Everything else is really trapped in centrally-held costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this $173 million that is listed as OM&A cost savings here, "Impact of Lower Labour Burden Rate", if you add it across over those four years, it is $173 million.  That is actually not a savings of money; right?  It is -- just changes the discount rate on the same dollars being spent in the future?

MR. REEVE: Correct.  There is a lower -- excuse me, a lower labour rate that results from the change in discount rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the ratepayers get a benefit today, but, in the end, we are still going to have to pay the same amount of money.  Your assumptions haven't changed about how much is going to have to be paid, only about what discount rate you use to calculate the present value?

MR. REEVE:  So there is a component that deals with the current service cost we're talking about here, and really what that is doing is capturing our assumptions at the time of business planning around what that cost will be, that pension and OPEB cost, and that is embedded in the business plan.

To the extent there are any changes from that, then we would capture that centrally.  So whether it impacts you differently in subsequent years is really a function of what discount rates are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am just a little taken aback, because you have this thing in your -- on this business plan page that says we're going to save $423 million over these four years, but if I understand you correctly, you are not actually going to save $423 million.  You're going to save 173 less than that.


You are going to save $250 million, which is not nothing, but the other $173 million you are not really going to save.  You are going to save it temporarily, but you are going to spend it eventually?

Is that unfair or is that true?

MR. REEVE:  That's true, to the extent that discount rates come back to where they were in prior years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REEVE:  It is very hard to predict where discount rates -- where they're going to go.  That's why I am hesitating on an answer to your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then how is that different from the next line down, the "Impact of New Labour Rates"?  The new labour rates are just the base rates, because I thought your labour rates already included burden?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  Basically, we have shown two different elements here of things that are affecting how we cost our labour in the business plan.

And the impact on new labour rates reflects an exercise which is done each year where we get initial updates of the head counts in various job families and classes, and we then -- we then update basically the average cost depending on how populations have changed in those various classes.  So you will get mixed changes.  For example, as older employees retire, newer ones come in at lower levels.

So the second line is really referring to the updated rates that are used, and it doesn't take into account any burden considerations.  It is really just how the demographic or the mix of employees in different job categories, or the pace of progressions and things like that, have happened to affect rates on a year-over-year basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is not about a new union contract or something like that?

MR. HALPERIN:  It could be.  If there was a new union contract that had occurred between the previous plan and this one, it would be captured in this line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in this particular case, when there isn't a new union contract, this captures changes in the demographics?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.  It is typically a much smaller number in years when there is not an escalation impact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

Then the next thing I wanted to ask about, if you turn to page 8 of our panel 9 materials, this is from the transcript from day 5.  And I was asking the people responsible for heavy water about some heavy water accounting, and they said:  No, that is not about heavy water, that is about accounting.  And so ask you.

So before we go to the transcript, let me just step back and ask if I understand this right.

When you produced heavy water originally, up until the '90s, you considered it an asset, and included it in rate base; right?

MR. BELL:  Yes.  I guess the heavy water that is in the plant would be considered in rate base at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I am asking about all of it.  You produced a bunch of heavy water and you had costs for it.  You had to account for those costs somehow.

And if I understand it, it was never treated as inventory.  It was always treated as capital; right?

MR. BELL:  Yes.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it all went into rate base as you produced it?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And there is none in rate base today; right?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it's been entirely depreciated?

MR. BELL:  It's basically being valued at zero.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so that's what I was trying to get at.  In 1999, 2000 -- I don't remember the year now -- some liabilities were transferred from OPG, or from Ontario Hydro, as it then was, to OEFC.

Did that include heavy water, a heavy water write-down?  Was that how that write-down happened?

MR. BELL:  Sorry, I missed the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You wrote down your heavy water; right?

MR. BELL:  In 1999, the company was valued, and that was the value assigned at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so how much was the write-down for the heavy water?

MR. BELL:  I am not aware.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, I just -- this line of questioning seems to be going back in time, but it seems to be before –- it is before the period in which the Board regulated the matter, and before regulation was passed or other things.

I am not quite sure I understand the relevance of the question, and why we are going back and revisiting history.  It was long before assets were prescribed or where the regulations were put in place, in terms of how OPG would be regulated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is where I am going with this, Madam Chair.

The applicant wants to make heavy water sales in the test period and keep the money.  And I am trying to determine whether the ratepayers paid for that heavy water and they're getting money back that we paid.

That can happen two ways.  It can happen either because we paid for it in rates, in which case, then, whether it was regulated or unregulated rates would make a difference.  Or it could happen because it was transferred to OEFC, and we're paying for this in the debt retirement charge or in various other things.

If we are paying for it, then it may not be appropriate for OPG, the shareholder, to keep the money, if it's the -- if it's the ratepayers that are paying the cost that is being recouped.

So that is what we're trying to figure out, is where it is, where that cost is.

MR. KEIZER:  But my understanding is that the financial circumstances of Ontario Power Generation at the time various of the regulations related to the regulation of OPG was put in place, that the assets and liabilities of OPG at that time was accepted or was to be accepted by the Board in accordance with the regulation, and that the Board wasn't to go back before that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not intending to ask the -–

MR. KEIZER:  But I think you are asking for regulatory relief, based upon a period in time in which this Board doesn't really have the jurisdiction to go back and assess assets and liabilities for that period before then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Actually what I am asking -- what I think I may be asking for in final argument -- I don't know yet because we haven't got the evidence yet -- but what I may be asking for is if we're paying for it on this part of our bill as a debt retirement charge right now, then I may be asking that the Board not order that the balancing sale price of that same thing we're paying for be kept by the shareholder.  That it may be appropriate that it go back to us, since we're paying for it right now anyway.

That is where I am going with this.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, the section I am referring to is with respect to the Regulation 53/05, and in particular, in relation to Section 6 and paragraph 5, which -- and 5(i), which deals with where the Board is to accept OPG's assets and liabilities that were set out prior to the prescription of the assets.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, Mr. Keizer, I am familiar with that provision.

It seems to me that what Mr. Shepherd is asking is a different question.  He is not asking whether or not it is in the statements of OPG.  He is asking if, in fact, it is being at least implicitly collected through the debt retirement charge.

So I am not sure that -- I mean, OPG's interpretation of the requirements of that reg may well be a matter for argument, but it seems to me that the question that he is asking, in terms of how the treatment of heavy water may be reflected in the charges that customers are paying today, may well be relevant.

So I think he should ask the question.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess he is looking at it from the debt retirement charge, which is not a charge that is levied by OPG as a corporation.

And the evidence that OPG is asserting --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.

MR. KEIZER:  -- is asserting is related to the actual revenues within the context of that corporation, based upon its financial statements, not based upon whether the government had levied some other tariff elsewhere.

I think that this is -- what is relevant here is with respect to the assets and liabilities to derive the payment amounts and any offsets related to it, not necessarily how other charges have been manifested outside of the control of OPG.

MS. CHAPLIN:  One moment, please.

[Board Panel confer]

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board Panel has decided that we would like to know the relevant facts, and then we will leave to argument to what conclusions we might reasonably or appropriately draw from them.

So please continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

What I would like to get, then, if I could, is just the amount that the heavy water was written down and when.

MR. MILLAR:  That is Undertaking J10.6.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.6:  to PROVIDE AMOUNT OF WRITE-DOWN FOR HEAVY WATER, AND WHEN WRITE-DOWN OCCURRED.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the last area, after being all in the details, I want to sort of back up to -- as my friend Mr. Warren says -- 10,000 feet, and ask you about your business planning conceptually.

To do that, what I have included in our materials in pages 14 to 19 is a presentation that is on the OPA's website, dealing with the global adjustment mechanism.

Do you see that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is from August, just a couple of months ago.  Have you seen this before, by the way?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  I wonder if you could turn to page 17 of our materials, which is a page in this which totals the amount, total amounts of global adjustment paid to OPG in the 12 months ended -- well, one line is.  In the 12 months ended August 2010, it totals just over a billion dollars.  Do you see that?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that is how much the OPA paid you in that 12-month period under the global adjustment mechanism formula; right?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's what it appears to be showing, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that number seem right to you?  I mean, you know what your revenues are.  Does that number seem like in the right range?

MR. HALPERIN:  Again, what this represents is the difference between the regulated rates and the HOEP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly, exactly.  So I have two questions about this.

First of all, until 2005, it's correct, isn't it, that generally speaking, you were actually paying money to, rather than receiving money from, under the global adjustment; right?  That is, the HOEP was paying you more than the amount the government was letting you keep, true?

MR. HALPERIN:  Not in every month, but in -- but certainly there was a rebate mechanism in place that required us to pay back any revenues in excess of, I think it was, $37, $38, something along that line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And since about 2006 or so, you have generally been -- or 2007, maybe, you have generally been receiving every month under the global adjustment, right, most months?

MR. HALPERIN:  I would imagine.  I am not familiar with the specific history, but given the pattern of HOEP over those years, that would probably be a reasonable statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason for that is twofold.  It is, in part, because the HOEP has dropped; right?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in part, because your payment amounts have gone up; right?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that gets to my two questions.  The first question is:  In your business planning, this is likely subsidy; right?  So the market gives you a price, and then under this mechanism you get an additional amount to make sure you cover your costs; right?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't think I would consider it to be a subsidy of any point.  It represents the difference between the regulated rates that have been determined and what the market price is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What I am driving at is this.  When you are planning, if in your planning context your planning context is that you have to receive an additional amount in excess of market in order to cover your costs, does that mean you plan differently?  Does that mean you approach your cost containment differently?  Does that mean you approach your cost of capital differently, anything like that?

MR. HALPERIN:  The regulated rates that we require are based on the costs of operating the system, and we seek to minimize the costs of doing that, subject to the constraints we've talked about before.  The relationship between that regulated rate and the market price is not something that we consider as we do our business planning.

There are a number of factors that can impact market price that may -- can cause some very strange results, as you can imagine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And then the last question I have about this, and the last question I think -- oh, no, I have one more question.

This billion dollars in these 12 months, that would be pretty well all nuclear; right?  That is to say the relationship of hydroelectric payment amounts to HOEP, you are not getting any additional money there, on average; right?  It is mostly or almost all nuclear; true?

MR. HALPERIN:  On average, but there certainly have been instances, I think last year, where the market price was below even the regulated hydroelectric price.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally, you wouldn't expect that to be true?

MR. HALPERIN:  Given that the regulated hydro price is in the 30s to 40s and the hydro is in the 50s, it's clear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally true, okay.

My last question is I want to follow up on something we started with in this cross-examination, and that is this Pickering B, Pickering A end of life timing.

We talked about the difference between financial accounting and regulatory accounting.  Do you recall that?

Is it possible to calculate the change in the total depreciation required for each of 2011 and 2012 if Pickering A and Pickering B were both assumed to go to 2020?  This is a calculation you could do; right?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you do that, then, so that when we argue about it, we can have a number to bandy about?

MR. REEVE:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J10.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.7:  TO CALCULATE CHANGE IN THE TOTAL DEPRECIATION REQUIRED FOR EACH OF 2011 AND 2012 IF PICKERING A AND PICKERING B WERE BOTH ASSUMED TO GO TO 2020.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, those are our questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Mr. Buonaguro, I think you are next.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I only have two short areas of questions for you.  The first one is actually follow-up from some questions I maybe mistakenly put to panel 7 and they referred me to you.  So I am going to go to that first.

I took panel 7 to an interrogatory response L, tab 1, schedule 94 -- or sorry, L, tab 1, schedule 90.  And you will see I am putting it up on the screen, but of course if you want to pull up your own versions -- and I know I can blow it up when I need to actually read something.

But you can see that that interrogatory response sets out centralized support and administrative costs by category?

MR. BELL:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I had asked about with the previous panel, panel 7, was about the centrally-held costs, and they referred me to you, but I was able to confirm one thing first, and that was, as between the test year 2011 and the test year 2012, there is about a $28 million decrease in the "other" category of centrally-held costs.

MR. BELL:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  They confirmed that that was presumably almost entirely due to the fiscal year adjustment.

MR. BELL:  That would be correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So if we look on this table, this is the 2011 amount.  It says "other", 28 million.  If we go over the page for 2012 and we look at the same column -- or same row, we have negative 1.4 million.  And my understanding is that is almost all adjustment for mid-year -- or, sorry, adjustment for the change in the fiscal year versus calendar year?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, because of that, I can't actually tell from the table what changes there are in the base other amounts.  So for example -- well, first of all, maybe you can tell me what actually goes into the "other" category, what types of expenses, other than the adjustment for the fiscal year that I guess in normal years makes up around $28 million.  At least it does in the forecast 2011.

MR. BELL:  Sure.  Certainly.

The calendar adjustment we have talked about, there is the ONFA guarantee fee, vacation accrual, PWU employee health tax, and not in all times, but in certain times, there's certain business claims which are sensitive by nature related to just ongoing business operation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, business claims?

MR. BELL:  Business claims.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Litigation, do you mean?

MR. BELL:  Yes, it would be along those lines.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I am just -- just to clarify, is that costs associated with defending or pursuing business claims, or the quantum of the business claim payout, assuming that there is -- I am a little unsure what you mean by that.  What amount goes into that "other" category?

MR. BELL:  It would be the latter.  It would be the estimate of potential quantum that would have to be paid out to resolve an issue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So, for example, for the 2011 and 2012 forecast years, are those forecast amounts for business claims that actually exist, or is it simply a placeholder amount for potential claims?  I am just trying to get the sense of how you are forecasting that little component of it.

MR. BELL:  Right.  I would have to say they are a best estimate of potential claims, because we do have business claims in not just one year.  They're in -- they're really part of the difference between 2011 and 2012, and then there's -- we have claims, as well, in 2009.  And there are some differences between both of them.

Some of them are actually existing.  They have actually been brought for resolution.  And other claims are a best estimate as to perhaps a disagreement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the way you describe it there, though, they're actually related to an actual existing issue as opposed to -- for example, in 2012, the amount for business claims would not include a placeholder amount in case a claim arose in 2012.  It doesn't sound like that is what is happening here?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.  It is not in the nature of a contingency.  This is an actual specific item.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Part of the reason why I brought this up -- sorry, this particular category, is because of the impact, obviously, of the fiscal year adjustment in 2012.  It is hard to see how that "other" category, as it is comprised of those other non-fiscal year adjustment related categories, are going up and down over time.

MR. BELL:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was wondering if you could do two things in a table:  Break out the "other" category into the subcategories you're talking about, the ONFA guarantee, the vacation accrual, the PWU employee health tax amount and the business claims amount -- and show that over time.  So basically normalize it for the fiscal amount and show the individual line items, so I can see how they're varying over time and also see, for example, how material the business claim amount is in the other category, relative to the other pieces.

Is that something you can do?

MR. BELL:  It is not a problem presenting the numbers.

The only issue I might have is just if you show all of the -- all of the lines, like the PWU, et cetera, by default, you might quantify the business claim.  And I am not sure what the sensitivity might be around --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe I could pipe in there for a second.  I am not interested in the very specific business claims.  Presumably, there is more than one, maybe two or three.

But if you put business claim and an amount for that category, that should deal with it.  But I am happy to hear from Mr. Keizer on that.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess it is a subject to a confidentiality issue.

If we -- if we can roll it up in a number where it somehow cannot be disclosed as to the nature of the business claim, then we will try to do that.  If not, we would have to redact it and file it confidentially.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right?  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J10.8:  to PROVIDE TABLE WITH BREAKOUT OF "OTHER" CATEGORY INTO SUBCATEGORIES, SHOWN OVER TIME FOR 2007-2012.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So can I get that for -- I am trying to figure the years.  Normally, I would ask for 2007 to 2012, just to get a projection through time of those categories.  Is that doable?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  Now, the second area of questions I have is clean-up to Mr. Shepherd's clean-up.  When I say clean-up, it usually means just so that I understand.

And it had to do -- it has to do with how the accounting rules determine changes in depreciation rates, for example.

So my understanding, when you talked to Mr. Shepherd, you talked about -- I am going to use the Darlington refurbishment as an example.  You have an accounting rule that tells you that at a certain point in time, based on the facts surrounding the plans associated with the Darlington refurbishment, from an accounting perspective, you say:  Ah-ha, now we've got a change the depreciation rates.

In the Darlington refurbishment case, that point in time is when you enter in the -- I think it is called the definition phase of the project?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, first of all, when you are talking about the accounting rules, I think you said -- and I am paraphrasing and you will tell me if I've got it right -- OPG has a rule for determining when that change in depreciation would occur.

And then that rule is in -- consistent with, I guess, Canadian accounting rules; is that the way it works?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.  Consistent with -- they're in line with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is there, like, a piece of paper where your rule exists?  And if so, can I get that?  Because I don't think it is in the –

MR. REEVE:  I don't think you will find the specific phrase "definition phase" in the handbook, but there will be language in there that talks about the relative stages of construction of an asset that will lead you to that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can I get that text?  And I'm assuming this is OPG's methodology for determining that point in time where depreciation rules will change, in the example of --


MR. REEVE:  Sorry, I thought you were after the underlying handbook reference in --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, my understanding is there's two.  There are the principles which I think you were telling me about.

MR. REEVE:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But then you also seemed to say that OPG has an articulation of that rule for its own purposes that you use.

So there is two things here, the principles and then OPG's rule arising from the principles.  I would like both.  I am not an accountant, so I have never really looked through the --


MR. REEVE: It is in evidence for Darlington refurbishment, there is discussion of entering the definition phase and the consequent decision to extend depreciation life.

If you are looking for a policy document or extracts from a policy document, which I think is what you are looking for, dealing with that particular decision point, then that is something that we could get.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I would like that.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J10.9:  to PROVIDE RELEVANT DOCUMENTS ON OPG'S INTERPRETATION OF ACCOUNTING RULES.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Again, just for clarity, what you are producing under that undertaking is what the accounting rules tell you?  Or specific OPG interpretation of those rules, for your purposes?

MR. REEVE:  I thought I was being asked for the OPG interpretation of those rules.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  That is what I am most interested in, so thank you very much.

Just following up on that, from a business planning perspective -- and again, specific to the Darlington refurbishment -- I am going to pull up a business plan of OPG's.

This is a table from the evidence, and this is Exhibit D, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 5.  You can see at the bottom it says:
"Nuclear refurbishment projects, and support business plan, 2010 to 2014, board of director review."

Now, it says "confidential" but I swear this is from the filed evidence and it is a non-confidential extract.  So if I am wrong, I am in trouble, but I am pretty sure that is the case.

MR. REEVE:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So -- and looking at this table, it sets out essentially the projected timeline for the Darlington refurbishment.  Do you see that?

MR. REEVE:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that when we talk about the definition phase, we're talking about the grey areas, as the key tells us.  So we are looking at beginning of 2010 right through to 2014 as being the definition phase?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And there is a little notation at the beginning of that phase, there is a black diamond that says:  "Project approval, 11/19/2009"?

Do you see that?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that, like, the date that the definition phase started?

MR. REEVE:  No.  The evidence indicates -- and I can't remember the specific reference -- but it is January 1, 2010 that we start the capitalization of expenditures for Darlington refurbishment.

The November 19th project approval was the board of director approval.

The date from which we started to capitalize Darlington is commensurate with the shareholder concurrence, and it is at that point that we started to capitalize expenditures.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I am going to take a guess here.  I've got Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 2 –- no, sorry.  D2, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 3, this is the letter from the Minister.

Is this what you mean by the shareholder concurrence?

MR. REEVE: This is the -- sorry, this is the written correspondence that happened confirming discussions that had happened between ourselves and the shareholder.  So this is the written confirmation that the confirmation that we use for accounting was effective January 1.  But you will see the date on the letter is February 4th.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So you got it in writing February 4th, but for accounting purposes, it starts at the beginning of the year?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  As I said, it is -- that was our starting point based on when we received concurrence from the shareholder.

What this letter does is just evidence in writing, that concurrence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, just going back to this table, from this table, I can tell -- and I am sure it was discussed at length in the actual Darlington refurbishment panel -- but this particular project is in the works, I think, since before 2007; is that correct?  At least in concept?  I mean, just looking at the table, we have initiation starting in 2007 right through 2009.

By the time this table is created, and I think this is created some time 2009, obviously this is after the fact.  So it is talking about things that have already happened in those years, 2007, 2008, 2009.

Is that generally true?

MR. REEVE: Yes.  I understand there would have been expenditures in those years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Now, this is from, as I said, the 2010 to 2014 board of director review business plan.  Slide presentation, I guess you would call it.

Would there have been an equivalent or similar presentation the year before?

Let me start this way.  Do you know what date this was produced on, this particular slide presentation, with this particular timetable in it?  I think it is fall/winter 2009.

MR. HALPERIN:  I think it was going towards the -- I believe it was going to the November 19th board meeting, the same meeting at which the Darlington project was approved.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

So what I am interested in is what was said about the project in the same sort of terms the year before, i.e., was there a calendar setting out the process timeline the year before, so in 2008?  For the 2008 equivalent presentation?

MR. REEVE: I don't know the answer to that question.  I don't know what was put in front of the board of directors on this particular project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get an undertaking to take a look?

I'm presuming it means taking a look at the business plans that were put to the directors the year before and just isolating the Darlington refurbishment documents.  I am only really interested in the timeline.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, so the undertaking is to go back and see if a similar slide was used in the previous year's business plan presentation, and, if there was, produce it; if not, then indicate that there wasn't?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I say "similar slide", because what I am interested in is the content of the slide which is -- what was the time frame associated with the project a year prior to this one; if it was similar; were there major differences?  Was...

I am trying to get to see how constant between 2008 and 2009 the time frame was.  For example, the 2008 may say that the definition phase was around the same -- it was projected to be around the same, the outage preparation would have been around the same.  Just relative between 2008 and 2009, how did the time frame change in terms of how it was presented to the board of directors.  That is all I am looking for.

MR. KEIZER:  If a slide similar to this existed or not.  I understand, okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.10: TO PROVIDE TIMELINE FOR DARLINGTON REFURBISHMENT AS DESCRIBED IN 2008 BUSINESS PLAN PRESENTATION

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry to interrupt, Madam Chair.  From our perspective, it wouldn't just be the slide.  It is the timeline, if it is described in words, but not in a coloured slide, I think that information should be produced.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think Mr. Keizer understands that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was hoping he understood it that way.  Thank you very much for the clarification, though.

And then just quickly, because you are officially the rate base panel, I think, one of the consequences specific to the Darlington refurbishment, for example, is that because -- the role that you are producing as a result of the timeline and the entering into of the definition phase around the 2009, beginning of 2010, one of the fallouts of that is depreciation for the nuclear liabilities was changed effective January 1st, 2010.

And I believe the number was in the order of $90 million.  Does that sound familiar?  I can pull up a reference.

MR. REEVE:  In the context of the rate base tables, I don't know that you would see the $90 million in those tables.  I would have to check the references, but what happened on the 1st of January 2010 is we did have an increase in our obligations for decommissioning and nuclear waste management associated with Darlington.

For generally accepted accounting principles, the other side of that entry goes to fixed assets to allow an equal retirement cost, which is included in rate base.  So you would have had a $475 million adjustment in rate base January 1, 2010.

The $90 million that you are thinking of is the result of extending Darlington depreciation.  What that means is your asset retirement cost is going down slower.

So, in essence, what it does is it means your rate base is changing by $90 million less under the Darlington refurbishment scenario compared to what it was before Darlington refurbishment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So I am going to pull up -- this is an interrogatory from us, Exhibit L-14-35, and I will make it so you can read it.  I am going to blow up the first table, which is the actual answer, and then the rest of it are notes explaining the way in which it is done.

So we had asked about the revenue requirement impact of the adjustment of nuclear liabilities due to the refurbishment, and you can see the 90.6 million at the end of row 1.

That is what you are talking about.  The depreciation change as a result of the refurbishment is the $90 million that's on this table?

MR. REEVE: That's correct.  If you are looking at L-14-035, attachment 1, and you are looking at note 1 to the table, and the note 1 shows the pre Darlington refurb or the sort of with and without Darlington refurbishment.  The difference is $90.6 million; that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And obviously just for clarity, this table only includes the prescribed facilities, because there is a similar thing going on with the Bruce, but it is treated differently, I think?

MR. REEVE: There is a similar thing going on, but it doesn't have an impact on rate base, because Bruce is not a prescribed facility.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.

I have questions in four areas, but before I get to that, there were a couple of hangovers from previous panels, and also a follow-up to a question -- an exchange you had with Ms. Chaplin earlier that was already followed up by Mr. Shepherd, but I had a couple of more questions.

So I will start with that, and then get to the carry-overs, and then get to my regularly scheduled cross.

You had -- this relates to the presumed shutdown dates for your nuclear facilities.  And just to make a long story short, I understand there is a number of possible end of life dates for Pickering A, Pickering B and Darlington; is that fair?

MR. REEVE:  We have had a discussion around a number of dates; that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And your assumptions about which of these dates is the actual date has an impact on your revenue requirement; is that correct?

MR. REEVE:  It would, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  There is depreciation, ARO, perhaps some other things.

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And what your application assumes is that Pickering A will close in 2014, Pickering B in 2021 and Darlington in 2051; is that correct?

MR. REEVE:  Pickering B is 2014.  Pickering A is 2021.  I think you had the first two the wrong way around, and Darlington is 2051.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that correction.  Mr. Shepherd asked you to run some numbers presuming that both Pickering A and B shut in 2020, I believe.

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  That was my understanding of the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would like to ask for a slightly -- or I shouldn't say "slightly" -- an expanded undertaking to look at a few other possible scenarios.

So let me give you the dates first, and if Mr. Keizer wants to chime in, I am happy to hear that, but I will give you the scenarios first, and then we can discuss the extent to which you can do it.

MR. REEVE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I have three scenarios that I would like to see the revenue requirement impact run for.

The first is Pickering A and Pickering B closing in 2020, and Darlington in 2051.  And I think that is the undertaking you have already provided to Mr. Shepherd.

MR. REEVE:  Just to be clear, the undertaking for Mr. Shepherd was the depreciation impact.

MR. MILLAR:  I am looking for --


MR. REEVE:  That was my understanding.  Your revenue requirement impact is quite a lot broader than just depreciation.

MR. MILLAR:  I see Mr. Shepherd shaking his head, so I think he meant revenue requirement if he said "depreciation", but to be clear, what I am asking for is revenue requirement.

Mr. Keizer, I will let you chime in in just a moment.  Let me finish the three scenarios.  So that would be the first scenario.

The second scenario would be Pickering A and B closing in 2014, and Darlington in 2021, and the final scenario would be --


MR. REEVE:  Do you mean 2019 for Darlington?

MR. MILLAR:  No, 2021.

MR. REEVE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that not one of the...

MR. REEVE:  The previous assumption we had for Darlington is 2019.

MR. MILLAR:  I thought the extension of 30 years to get you to 2051 would bring us back to 2021.  Why is there a difference between -- why 2019 instead of 2021?

MR. REEVE:  It's not a straightforward just add 30 years.

MR. MILLAR:   So 2019 would be the appropriate number?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.  If you are looking for the life before Darlington refurbishment, it is 2019.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.  Thank you for that clarification.  So 2019.  And the third scenario would be Pickering A 2021, and Pickering B 2014, and then Darlington at 2019.

So those are the three scenarios that we would be interested in seeing the revenue requirement impacts run for.  So that is the request.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Millar, could you just repeat the last scenario?  What was it, Pickering A...

MR. MILLAR:  Pickering A 2021, Pickering B 2014, which I think are the -- that's the current expectation, and then 2019 for Darlington.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.

[Mr. Keizer consults with Ms. Reuber]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair, we have some problems with providing the undertaking, and it goes to the complexity of the calculation.

In order to be responsive to this question and to be able to provide the revenue requirement numbers, we have to recalculate the ARC of the ARO, which is an aggregate number.  Then it has to be reallocated over all of the facilities, including dealing with the Bruce.

And my understanding is that to be able to run this analysis, it will take two to three weeks to do, because of the complexity of the model attached with it.

The depreciation is a shorter horizon, but to do it on the basis of revenue requirement, my understanding is that is what OPG would expect to be able to take to do the work.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is there some higher or less detailed approach that could give us an order of magnitude impact on revenue requirement in a shorter period of time?

MR. KEIZER:  Just one moment, sorry.

I am not sure whether Mr. Reeve knows or whether if is something that the nuclear liability folks could explain better.  I am not sure.

MR. REEVE:  I can provide a perspective too.

Any of these scenarios could have a resulting impact on our asset retirement obligation, that is, our obligation to decommission and manage waste.  That is a complex calculation that goes many years into the future as present valued, and depending on the change in assumptions, it is quite a time-consuming calculation.

Then we have to determine what the impact is on the asset retirement cost, which impacts rate base for the prescribed facilities.

I am also concerned with the tax impacts, as well, that would need to be factored into any determination of revenue requirement impact.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, did you have something further, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, whether or not -- I guess I don't have anything more to add.  I can't elaborate on what Mr. Reeve has just said.  He has given quite a succinct answer.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just a minute, please.

[Board Panel confer]

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board does feel that this sort of information would be quite useful, and in fact, could potentially be quite important if parties want to argue any of these alternative scenarios.

So what we're going to leave it as for the time being is to provide the depreciation impacts, which, as I understand, is currently the way the Schools undertaking is worded.

And then what we're going to ask OPG to do is to go back and consider the request and see if there is an alternative formulation that could be done in a briefer period of time.  We take your comments that you're saying you don't think there is, but perhaps with, you know -- you only had five minutes to think about it.  Maybe overnight there might be some alternative formulation that might still accomplish the same thing in a shorter period of time.

And if not, we will revisit the issue, in terms of determining what the potential impacts are for the timing of the proceeding and subsequent events.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We will give it a number, and then we will revisit it when OPG is ready to report back.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That is J10.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. J10.11:  to PROVIDE DEPRECIATION IMPACTS FOR PICKERING A AT 2021, PICKERING B AT 2014, AND DARLINGTON AT 2019, AND INVESTIGATE WHETHER THERE IS AN ALTERNATIVE FORMULATION THAT COULD BE DONE IN A BRIEFER PERIOD OF TIME.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, just to be clear, I assume for the depreciation numbers, we do want them for all three of the scenarios, as opposed to just Mr. Shepherd's?

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think that is sensible.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

I would like to very quickly touch on two areas that are carryovers from previous panels.

Very quickly, we had some questions about -- with the benchmarking panel -- about the capitalization threshold employed by OPG.

We actually got an undertaking response back, either this morning or yesterday, which I think greatly reduces the importance of this question, but I will run it by you very quickly.

And the undertaking, to refresh your memory, was to provide the revenue requirement impact if the capitalization threshold were lowered from $200,000, I think, which is the OPG standard, to something called an industrial standard.

And to make a long story short, in this undertaking response, there was trouble coming up with the standard, but regardless, the answer was that whatever it was, it appears there would be zero revenue requirement impact.

Have I paraphrased that correctly?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You are familiar with it?  Did you prepare that answer?

MR. REEVE:  I was involved in the preparation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So this appears to have very little significance anymore, but the ScottMadden report did point out that you seemed to have a much higher capitalization threshold than the industry standard.

Just by way of follow-up, to give the company an opportunity to answer the question, I will put it to you.  Are you able to give us a reason why that is the case?

MR. REEVE: I think, as you mentioned in paraphrasing the response to the undertaking, there isn't an industry standard, per se, based on the phone conversations that happened.

What we do understand is some companies use a materiality threshold.  Some are more focussed on the various requirements to meet capitalization eligibility.

So what I took away from it was there isn't a standard, so I don't have any other context for the ScottMadden finding.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  With no revenue requirement impact, I will leave it at that.  Thank you.

We also had a question -- I think it was with the corporate panel -- regarding the Memorandum of Agreement and certain wording in there.

I suspect this question may actually be for panel 10, because I understood Mr. Barrett may be involved in answering it.  But I will throw the question out so I can make sure I've got the right panel.

Just to provide you the context, we asked a question about a line in the Memorandum of Agreement -- we will only need to pull it up if this is yours -- but under point 3, it said:

"OPG will seek continuous improvement to its nuclear generation business in internal services."

My question was, What is internal services?


Is this the right panel?  Or, Mr. Keizer, should I go to panel 10?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think we can take care of that here.  We were aware this was a question.

My conversations with people who were involved in the original drafting of the Memorandum took that to basically refer to the other operations of OPG.  Basically, it was a fairly generic term.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say "other" do you mean, like, hydro or corporate services?  Or can you be a bit more specific?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think basically the -- well, I haven't got it in front of me.  But the context was when this was established in 2005, we were just -- had just been regulated.

The focus was on -- significant focus was placed on improving the nuclear operations.  That was obviously a key area of concern for the government.

I think the rest of the other services really reflects the fact that we shouldn't just be focussing on nuclear.  We should also be making sure that all of the other operations, as well, are facing continuous improvement.

MR. MILLAR:  And the other operations would be?

MR. HALPERIN:  Basically the other power generation and the supporting services.

MR. MILLAR:  So hydro and supporting services?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Anything else?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, I mean, it also would have referred to our thermal operations, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  So essentially everything that is not nuclear?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think that is fair, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Madam Chair, just to complete the record on this, in case anyone is reading it on the transcript or listening at home, the reference that I just read from is at Exhibit A1, tab 4, schedule 1, attachment 2.

I have some questions about your nuclear insurance costs.  I assume this is the correct panel for that?

MR. BELL:  Yes, that's correct.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I think -- Madam Chair, actually I do have a very short booklet of documents in this case.  It actually doesn't relate to this particular issue.  And as I have tinkered with my cross, I may not even refer to a number of these documents, but I would propose to circulate it now.

This would be Exhibit K10.4, and it is a booklet of documents from Board Staff.  These are all documents that are not currently on the record, and I guess to the extent I don't refer to them, obviously they won't form part of the record for the purposes of argument or anything like that.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.4:  BOOKLET OF DOCUMENTS FROM BOARD STAFF NOT CURRENTLY ON THE RECORD.

MR. MILLAR:  I did provide one of them to my friends last night, which one I will refer to for sure.  The other ones I gave them earlier this morning, and, frankly, I am not sure I will refer to them at all, but we have circulated copies of that.

But what I haven't provided in that booklet are any references that are already in the evidence.  So if I could ask you to turn to Exhibit F4, tab 4, schedule 1.

And, in particular, table 1 to that schedule, and this is just to provide context.  So if you don't have it, I don't know that everyone needs to turn it up, but I just want to get a handle on the impact.

You will see there is a line number 3, do you see that, "nuclear insurance"?  If you scan across to 2009, the expense was 7.3 million, and then in the test years, 2011 and 2012, its jumps to $11.3 million in 2011 and 13.4 in 2012.

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  This is on the screen now, which may be a more convenient place to reference it.

Then if you look back at page 4 under that same schedule -- I'm sorry, it is the next schedule, F4, tab 4, schedule 2.  You provide an explanation as to what that is for, and it says:
"The forecast nuclear insurance costs are higher primarily due to the increase in nuclear liability insurance requirements by the federal government."

Do you see that?  That is at about line 21 of page 4.  It just says at line 21, "The forecast nuclear insurance costs are higher primarily due to the increase".

MR. BELL:  I see that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So we asked you about that, you may recall, in an interrogatory that is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 89.  Do you recall that?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And maybe I could ask that we turn that up.  Madam Chair, it is under issue 6.9.

And, again, I don't know that you need to turn it up.  If you've got it, that's great, but I am just providing the background to where this came from.

We asked you about why those expenses were going up and about that bill, and you responded:
"The federal government has reviewed the Nuclear Liability Act, established 1976, and has now proposed a new Bill C-15 ...which has passed the first reading in the 40th Parliament - 3rd Session.  OPG's best estimate is that the NLCA will receive Royal Assent at the end of 2010 or early in 2011."


Do you see that?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, your evidence didn't mention that this bill hadn't yet passed; is that fair to say?

MR. BELL:  I think that is fair to say.

MR. MILLAR:  And to date, I understand that the Bill has not passed or has not been proclaimed into law; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  That's my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to provide an update?  Do you know where it stands?  Is it working its way through the House, or...

MR. BELL:  I can check with our internal source and see if there is anything they're aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I will take an undertaking just if you could give us the status of that bill, and that would be undertaking J10.12, to provide the status of proposed Bill C-15.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.12:  TO PROVIDE THE STATUS OF PROPOSED BILL C-15.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, at the technical conference - again, I don't know that you need to turn this up, but it is at page 111 - Staff asked you what the outcome would be if the Bill was not proclaimed into law, and you noted it would result in a reduction in the nuclear insurance costs for the test years.

Can you be more specific?  How much lower?  Would we be talking 2009 levels or something more than that, something less than that?

MR. BELL:  Assuming it would be 2009 levels, the impact would be -- the increase from 2009, mainly due to this, is estimated at about $2.6 billion.

MR. MILLAR:  Million or billion?

MR. BELL:  Sorry, million.

MR. MILLAR:  So 2.6 million per year?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So about $5 million over the two test years?

MR. BELL:  Sorry.  No, then the next year we have another -- as the liability cap creases, then there is a further increase from 2011 to 2012 of another 1.8 million.  So as the cap limit increases, the rate increases.

MR. MILLAR:  So we're talking something in the range $6, $7 million, something like that?

MR. BELL:  No.  I think between 2010 and 2011, it is 2.6 million, and then a further increase of 1.8.  So I guess if you are doing it in the test period, you double those numbers, so that would be -- that's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  Something in that range, anyway?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  To the extent that Bill C-15 is not proclaimed into law, obviously you won't recover -- or, pardon me, you won't incur those expenses and you would over-recover, in a sense.  You would over-recover the amounts of money that you have sought approval for, if the Board approves that?

MR. BELL:  That would be a fair statement.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, obviously you are aware we currently have a minority government.  An election - who knows, you hear about it all the time - hasn't happened for a while.

But would you agree with me that there is no certainty that this Bill will actually be proclaimed into law in the test period?

MR. BELL:  It is an estimate.  It is our best estimate.  But there is no certainty.  It is our best estimate.

MR. MILLAR:  And your best estimate, at least when the application was filed -- or, pardon me, this was in an IR response.  You thought it would receive royal assent end of 2010, early 2011?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  That is still your best guess, subject to any update we receive through the undertaking response?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It is fair to say there is a bit of a history to this legislation; is that fair to say?

MR. BELL:  That is my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The one document I will take you to in our booklet of documents is the very last page.  They're not numbered, but it is, I guess, a note, a little update from a law firm, Davies Ward Phillips & Vineberg LLP.  Do you see that?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I produced this only as a platform to ask these questions, but you will see it is discussing this very bill, and I have highlighted a couple of portions, the first saying:
"Bill C-15 is in substance identical to numerous other bills that have been introduced by the federal government over the past three years to amend and replace the existing Nuclear Liability Act, each of which has died on the Order Paper with the prorogation of Parliament."


Then if you skip down a few sentences:
"The federal government has been attempting to modernize Canada's nuclear liability regime for decades, but earlier attempts have either met with constitutional challenge or died on the Order Paper."


Do you see that?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So what gives you confidence that the fourth, fifth time is the charm here?  Why do you think it will get through this time, where it hasn't been so lucky in the past?

MR. BELL:  It is an estimate.  There has to be a time associated with it, and there is some degree of likelihood, we feel, it is reasonable to expect 2011.

There is nothing that we are aware of or at the time of putting this information together that would indicate otherwise.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  I know you can only use the information you have in front of you.  But would this be the type of case where something like a variance account would be appropriate?  We have a piece of legislation that has been ill-fated in the past.  You've got something like $6 to $7 million in your revenue requirement that you may or may not incur.

And I can push this to the variance account panel, Mr. Keizer, if you would like, but I thought I would try it on this panel first.

MR. KEIZER:  It might be better, because they're dealing with the criteria of the variance account and otherwise.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, if you're moving to a new area, would this be a convenient time to break?

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Yes, it would, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  We will rise now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:05 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:24 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I have some questions now about rate base, Issue 2.1.  To whom would I direct those questions?  Or should I just fire away and you can take --


MR. HALPERIN:  Fire away.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think you may need to turn your microphone on, sir.

Perhaps the most convenient place to start would be to turn to Board staff Interrogatory No. 1, which I believe is under Issue 2.1.

It is 1.3, I guess.  Regardless, it is on the screen.

Oh, this is the wrong one.  Starting off on the wrong foot here.  I pulled....

It is Interrogatory No. 2, I understand.

And then if you could flip a page or two ahead where this chart is populated, this is it, yes.

Mr. Buonaguro, would you mind just highlighting the chart itself?

And I use this simply as a convenient schedule or chart that shows rate base amounts, both proposed and historic.

And something that is a little bit -- I won't say odd, but unusual with OPG that you don't necessarily see in other cases is the inclusion of a line for asset retirement costs or unamortized ARC.

Just so we know what we're talking about here, what are the asset retirement costs, and how is it that they fit into rate base?

MR. REEVE:  The asset retirement costs represents the assets side of the adjustments that we have made for nuclear decommissioning and waste management costs.  So for accounting, when we show a liability for those costs and we set up a corresponding asset retirement cost, that forms part of our fixed asset balance.

And that is why it is included in rate base.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you have a line near the bottom, the nuclear rate base without "unamortized ARC".

That is the line I will be looking at, because as I understand it, that is simply the rate base excluding the unamortized ARC; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I think your microphone is off.

MR. BELL:  Sorry.  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I would like to look at your forecasting history, particularly with regard to the past two test years.

If you look at the bottom, I see, if you look at, I guess it is column 4 and then column 7, these are the variance from your forecast -- pardon me, your Board-approved versus actual.

And I see that your rate base was overforecast by -- I shouldn't say forecast.  Board-approved, which I understand more or less matched the forecast, but the Board-approved was $101 million higher than the actual in both '08 and '09; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And this is about four, 4.3, 4.5 percent off; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's what it says underneath.  That is not a huge amount, but are you able to give us an idea of why that happened?  Why were the rate base amounts off from the forecast?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, just looking at the table of the components that are available there, there is two broad categories.

There is the net plant, which was approximately 22 million below, but that would have included the variances in the unamortized ARC.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HALPERIN:  In terms of what contributed to that variance to the net plant, I am not in a position to tell you at this point, but obviously there are just a couple of factors that could affect it.  That would be the rate at which plant is brought into the rate base, and the rate at which it is depreciated.

That is basically the two factors that would contribute to that variance.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand how it works, how the numbers feed in, but what actually happened that led to the forecast being off?  Was it depreciation schedules?  Was it things that didn't close to rate base when you assumed that they would?  Or do you know?

MR. HALPERIN:  I don't know offhand, but my informed estimate would be more likely it is a bit of a lag in bringing assets into service, as opposed to changes in depreciation.  But I would have to confirm that.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you made any changes to your forecasting, to ensure that this doesn't happen this time?

MR. HALPERIN:  We receive our forecasts of in-service additions from the business units who manage the construction programs and the projects, and we implore each year to seek improved accuracy from the business units.  And we have done that for the last few years.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you run the variances by them, from how they did in the last test period?  For example, if --


MR. HALPERIN:  I understand what you're saying.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And you said you implore them to be accurate.  I guess if you don't show them the variances, did you implore more this time than last time?

MR. HALPERIN:  We -- certainly the fact that this was going to be the basis of the rate proposal, we brought that to people's attention, to make sure that they brought extra attention to this.

MR. MILLAR:  But no formal policy changes, or anything of that nature?

MR. HALPERIN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  You just asked people to be sure?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  We asked you about the revenue requirement -- or I shouldn't say revenue requirement, but the –- well, I guess it is the revenue requirement impact.

The impact of this overstatement of rate base, and that was -- you provided a response -- this was in the Technical Conference -- and you provided a response, KT1.6.

Could I ask you to pull that up?

It has helpfully been placed on the screen here for us.

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  To make a long story short here, the estimate you provided showed that you overrecovered by $13 million in the two test years, as a result of this overstatement.

And I am getting that from looking at part (e) and part (f) and just adding those together, 5.4 plus 7.3.

Is that approximately correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  That seems reasonable, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the way you got that number is essentially you took -- you presumed a -- you didn't presume.

You have a cost of capital and you just applied that cost of capital to the overstated amounts; is that the short answer as to how you got the $13 million?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, you didn't gross up for taxes, I noticed.  But of course, I understand you didn't actually pay taxes in this -- in those years, so is that why you didn't gross up for taxes?

MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  However, if we had a similar overstatement in the two current test years, I take it that it would be appropriate to gross those amounts up for taxes?

MR. HALPERIN:  I believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, what is not included here is that you didn't take into account depreciations expenses; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's true.

MR. MILLAR:  And I have to assume that you incurred –- or, pardon me, you recovered depreciation expense on the $100 million overstatement in 2008 and 2009?  Actually, let me change that.

It wouldn't be $100 million, because some of those assets don't depreciate, like working capital, which is about a quarter, I think, of the total.  But regardless, on the outstanding 75, $77 million, you would have received depreciation expenses; is that correct?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I won't ask you to undertake to provide the specific number, because this is money that is out the door, but I want to run some ballpark by you.

I have it that if you take out working capital, you've got something like, in the order of $77 million, and then if we have the half-year rule for 2008, and then assuming depreciation schedules of 25 years, i.e., 4 percent, I get about a million and a half dollars for 2008; is that approximately right?

MR. HALPERIN:  Based on the assumptions you stated, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Are those assumptions wildly off-base?

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I think the depreciation for the nuclear facility would depend on which plant it came from, what the remaining life was.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.  But is 25 years, on average, a fair guess?  If you would like, I can ask for an undertaking and you could tell me the number.  I wasn't going to do that, but if that is preferable --


MR. HALPERIN:  Well, again, I think it depends on which plant it is coming from.  Obviously, the Darlington plant at this point is, based on our submission, is being depreciated until 2051, which would be 30-plus years.

However, Pickering, depending on what your assumed end-of-service-life is, it is somewhat shorter than that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It sounds like this is a more complicated calculation than I had assumed.  So could I ask you to undertake to give me the appropriate depreciation expenses resulting from the overstatement for 2008 and for 2009?

MR. KEIZER:  Because it is a more complex calculation, is that something that is available or able to do on that basis, breaking it down to that degree?  I am not sure that it is, but...

MR. HALPERIN:  I'd have to go back and look at the availability and the granularity of the information that we are dealing with.

MR. MILLAR:  You can include in your assumptions -- as I say, I have done a high level ballpark which I was happy to go with, but it sounds like there is more to it than that.  If I could ask for your best efforts to provide us with the proper depreciation amounts for 2008 and 2009.  And that will be J10.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. J10.13: TO PROVIDE APPROPRIATE DEPRECIATION EXPENSES RESULTING FROM THE OVERSTATEMENT FOR 2008 AND FOR 2009, AS REFERENCED IN BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY NO.2


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn to Staff IR No. 5?

And this is, in some ways, a follow-up, but at a more specific level to some of the questions that you have been asked by Mr. DeRose and, to a lesser extent, Mr. Warren, regarding the extent to which you take rate impacts into account in your capital planning process.

So we asked you a question as to whether or not, essentially, you took into account the rate impacts on your capital planning process.

And if we look at the response, I'm starting at line 26 -- in fact, I will read this paragraph, because I think it provides the context.  It says:
"The prioritization of sustaining capital projects takes place at the business unit level. Both nuclear and regulated hydroelectric capital planning processes employ a portfolio approach, which is described in Ex. D1-T1-S1 and Ex. D2-T1-S1. Utilization of these approaches has enabled OPG to stabilize its total sustaining capital expenditures – which have been in a range between $300M and $400M annually since 2005.  The relative stability of these requirements, and the fact that OPG is able to finance its sustaining capital expenditures from operating cash flow, means that OPG has not been required to reprioritize its planned projects at the corporate level in response to funding shortages in the time period identified." 

And when we read that, what this seems to be saying to us is, essentially, that you have stabilized your -- I suppose these are mostly sustaining expenses, but perhaps not entirely.  You were able to fund this essentially through operating cash flow or -- which I assume to mean depreciation, but it seems to suggest that since you have the cash, you are spending it.

And that doesn't strike me as evidence that you are taking a hard look at areas where cuts could be made to alleviate any ratepayer impacts.

So would you care to respond to that?  We asked you about that in the technical conference and you provided a response, but I am not sure we are there yet.  So maybe you could help me with that.

MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I would say, once again, we set the planning context for the business units early on in the process.  A large focus of the context of the past planning process dealt with trying to minimize the operating costs of operating the system.

The capital planning process is done somewhat differently, and, again, these are done at the BU level, largely within envelopes that have been established previously.

And these are done in the context of longer term plans that need to be carried out to ensure the appropriate investment is made to sustain the reliability and safety of these units.

We have -- as we have rolled up the business plan results in the last few years, as we have said, we have found that we are able to fund these from our existing cash flow.

And, therefore, we have not felt the need to go back on an individual basis and look at the individual business unit portfolios.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me approach this in a slightly different way and as a follow-up to that remark.  What you say in the IR response is that since you can fund it through operating cash flow, you have not been required to reprioritize.

The flip side of that, I assume, is if you couldn't fund it through operating cash flow, you would look to reprioritize?

MR. HALPERIN:  I think we would have to, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But, again, that sounds to me like your criteria for determining if you have to have a closer look at these things is whether or not you happen to be recovering those amounts through operating cash flow.

To the extent you haven't described this with Mr. DeRose or Mr. Warren, where is the step where maybe you actually look at if you can reduce some of these expenditures, prior to getting to the point where you can't fund it through operating cash flow?

MR. HALPERIN:  We have not looked specifically at the need to reduce these.  We have left this really at the business unit level to deal with, to identify the work that is required, to identify -- to sustain the assets properly.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I think I have my answer for that, so thank you.

I am going to move to another area.  This is touching on something you discussed with Mr. Rubin, questions surrounding your depreciation expenses.  And it might be helpful here to turn directly to the evidence, Exhibit F4, tab 1, schedule 1.  You might just start with the first page there just to cover some of the basics.  I don't plan to spend too much time on this.

Your proposed depreciation expenses for the test years is about $622 million; is that correct?  You can see that at line, 8 and 9.

MR. BELL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that OPG determines the service life of its assets, and this is this is how they set their depreciation schedules?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  This is done through -- it is called the DRC, depreciation review committee?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I understand that your depreciation expenses and the schedules are not supported by an independent study; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  To the extent that there is a depreciation review committee process, a process for reviewing service lives and assets, there has been an independent study.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, explain that to me.  What does that study look at?

MR. BELL:  I believe the study, it is referred to as Gannett Fleming, the consultants that did the work.  I believe it was actually filed in the last hearing, for reference.

MR. MILLAR:  But what does it -- it doesn't support the specific -- as I understand it, anyways - correct me if I am wrong - it doesn't support the specific depreciation expenses you have brought forward in the test years, nor does it look at the specific asset lives that give rise to those depreciation rates?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.  It supports and looks at the processes to arrive at that.

MR. MILLAR:  So the methodology used by the DRC is supported by a study, an independent study, but that study didn't look at OPG's actual assets and come up with its own conclusions?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, what was that study called?

MR. BELL:  Gannett Fleming.  If you give me a second, I might be able to spell it.  G-A-N-N-E-T (sic) F-L-E-M-I-N-G.

MR. MILLAR:  Just one M?

MR. BELL:  Just one M.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Are you aware that other large utilities have produced independent studies to support their depreciation expenses?

MR. BELL:  I am not directly aware.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I told you Enbridge and Union both had independent depreciation expenses, would that surprise you?

MR. BELL:  I don't know that.

MR. MILLAR:  You just don't know?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, fair enough.  What about Hydro One?

MR. BELL:  I am not sure if they do, or not.

MR. MILLAR:  My information is that they do, but I guess all you can say is that you don't know.

And are you aware that the Board is also looking at doing, I guess, a generic depreciation study for the smaller electricity LDCs, or indeed just a generic document to be used by those that don't have a depreciation study?  Are you aware of that?

MR. BELL:  No, I'm not.

MR. MILLAR:  I may then take you to a page from our document booklet.  I apologize this one is not numbered, but I guess it is the second-last document.  It is a letter from Hydro One, dated May 21st.

Do you see that?

MR. BELL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  This is a submission from Hydro One, and I am only showing this to you.  I know you haven't reviewed it in detail and you weren't involved in this, but this was Hydro One's submission on the process I just discussed, with regard to having a generic depreciation study for electricity distributors.  You can see that in the cover note?

MR. BELL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, if you could give me just one second.

Yes.  Okay.  Ms. Binette has assisted me.  If you could look to the submission itself, the first page has the bold type at the front:  "Hydro One comments on draft report."  Do you see that?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you see "Application to Hydro One Inc." underlined, and in the second paragraph under that, it says:

"Hydro One carries out external depreciation reviews, because external reviews provides for high quality and independent regulatory support for an expense category that is very material to our revenue requirement."

Do you see that?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You can confirm for me that Hydro One -- pardon me, OPG does not conduct a similar study?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

What would OPG's position be if the Board or Board Staff or some other intervenor suggested through final argument that OPG should be required to file such a study?

MR. KEIZER:  I think we should probably advise you in reply argument, I think.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.  I always like to give the witnesses a chance to answer, but I am happy to hear it in reply.

Okay.  I would like to look at some of the depreciation expenses that are brought forward in this application.

If you look to the end of this Exhibit F4, tab 1, schedule 1, there is an attachment, the 2009 depreciation review committee report?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think probably if you skip to pages 13 and 14, we'll be looking around there.

First of all, I understand that the DRC has completed reviews of a majority of OPG's asset classes?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  It's got 100 percent of hydro done, and 74 percent of your nuclear asset classes?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And of the remaining 26 percent of your nuclear assets, for which reviews have not yet been completed, am I right that the net book value of these assets would be somewhere in the range of $684 million?

And I will tell you where I got that number.

In the executive summary to the attachment -- it is not paginated -- but there is a line that says "Nuclear review" on the first page of the executive summary, and the last sentence under that says:

"Including this year, the DRC has now reviewed nuclear asset classes with a total net book value of approximately 1.9 billion, representing approximately 74 percent coverage of the total nuclear asset net book value."

So we just applied the 26 percent and got about 684 million.  Is that ballpark right?

MR. BELL:  Yes.  That sounds reasonable.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is the DRC intending to review the remainder of these assets, the other 26 percent?

MR. BELL:  It is intending to cover the most significant assets.  And as I said earlier, the largest group remaining is the minor fixed asset group of assets.  And they're probably making up most of that difference, somewhere, I would estimate, between 10 to 15 percent of that delta remaining.

MR. MILLAR:  Ten to 15 percent of the 26 percent or --


MR. BELL:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So half of the 26 percent?

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And are you going to be looking at the minor fixed assets?

MR. BELL:  We actually, this year as part of the scope for the review, have already undertaken and started looking at the minor fixed assets.

MR. MILLAR:  And when will that be complete?

MR. BELL:  The minor fixed assets are somewhat different than some of the other assets by nature.  They tend to have a lot of smaller dollar value items, and a lot of -- and some bigger dollar items.  So there's a good -- a good mix in the pot, so to speak.

So this year, we tried to isolate on the bigger dollar items.  That will probably cover maybe a third of the class value, which I estimated was somewhere around 10 or 15 percent.  Just by nature, it is hard to get coverage with the minor fixed assets.

MR. MILLAR:  So it takes a little longer?

MR. BELL:  It takes a little longer.  It is hard to pick out the big-ticket items to get the coverage.

MR. MILLAR:  You said minor fixed assets were about half of the 26 percent.  What is the other half?

These would just be various other assets?

MR. BELL:  Various other assets.

MR. MILLAR:  Will you be looking -- will the DRC be looking at those at some time?

MR. BELL:  They will.  They will, and follow their usual process for selection.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Would you turn to page 11, please?  This is of the attachment 1.  You will see at the top, it says:  "Appendix C - nuclear assets reviewed in 2009."

These are obviously the assets reviewed by the DRC in 2009?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you can count them if you like, but by my count, you looked at 31 asset classes.

MR. BELL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And in 14 of them, the DRC made no changes to the asset useful life; is that correct?

MR. BELL:  Subject to check, just counting them, that looks about right.

MR. MILLAR:  However, in 17 categories, you did make a change of one form or another?  Is that right?

MR. BELL:  That appears to be the difference, from just counting as you speak.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  You can correct me if I've got this wrong, but it is close if it is not right.  I might have got it wrong by one, but it looks like 17.

And can you confirm for me that for 16 of these 17 assets, the DRC found that the asset life should be extended?

And in fact, there is only one where the asset life was revised downward, that being calandria tubing.  Can you confirm that?

MR. BELL:  That looks correct.  I am just trying to find calandria.  Yeah, I see it --


MR. MILLAR:  Calandria is about five down.

MR. BELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So all of the other ones in which an adjustment was made, you extended the asset life?

MR. BELL:  I think there is one, as well, that was revised down.  It is tritium removal facility.  It is revised from 40 to 30.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  You are quite right.  I'm sorry.  So there is two.  My mistake.

Now, I noticed for both calandria tubing and tritium removal facility, the estimated impact for the -- the estimated millions of dollars on annual depreciation for the revised life is zero, resulting from that change.

Is that because those assets are already fully depreciated?  Or why is there no change?

MR. BELL:  Part of it could be that there is a minimal net book value, and it rounds out that way.

The other factor is most of those life years for those two pieces of equipment are pretty much at station life.  They're beyond the nominal station life of 30 years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. BELL:  So there would be minimal impact of changing them slightly down.  They're already beyond station life.

MR. MILLAR:  Indeed, the long and short of it is there is no dollar impact associated with those changes?

MR. BELL:  That's the summary, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But if you take all of the other changes in which asset lives were extended, we see at the bottom the total revenue requirement -- pardon me, the depreciation impact is just under $6 million; is that right?

MR. BELL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, if we -- I take you -- 2009 is only one example, obviously.  But should we take from this that it seems to be more likely that the DRC will extend asset lives than reduce them?  Is that a fair assessment?

MR. BELL:  No.  I think the DRC is looking at whatever technical support there is for life, and basing on that, it is selecting an asset class life.  Sometimes it is up; sometimes it is down.

What you're tending to see in this case are asset classes that are really part of the infrastructure of the station.  They support the station's operation.

And you can see that by the number of years.  The number of years are generally the nominal station life of 30 or greater.

So part of the review was to see, of those infrastructure assets, would they be able to last for a further station life to support.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand what you've done, but I am just asking.  It seems to me that you are much more likely to find the asset life should be extended as opposed to reduced.  Is 2009 atypical in that regard?

MR. BELL:  I think, not having the history right in front of me, there are other years, and there is the hydroelectric business, as well --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BELL:  -- where sometimes it goes the other way.

MR. MILLAR:  But you have already completed the hydroelectric review?

MR. BELL:  We have.

MR. MILLAR:  So for the remaining 26 percent of nuclear assets, is there any reason we should expect that we won't find more asset lives being extended than being reduced?

MR. BELL:  Of the remaining assets to be covered, they're generally the minor fixed asset classes, and they usually don't have a big potential change in life.  Service equipment I mentioned, being one of the bigger categories, has a life of ten years.

So it would be most unlikely that it would vary much from that.  Service equipment seems to have relatively limited life, and there is not as much room to change for that type of category.

MR. MILLAR:  But at the same time, since we're talking about less years, a change of only a couple of years has a bigger proportionate impact on the depreciation expense; is that fair?

MR. BELL:  That's fair.  That's a fair statement.

MR. MILLAR:  And the minor fixed assets are about half of the remaining assets that you have to review?

MR. BELL:  That's correct.  As I mentioned, the nature of the items, they all have relatively small dollars.  There tends to be a lot of items with smaller dollars.

So if there were changes on some of the items, they wouldn't necessarily have a significant impact.  They would all have to go the same way in a large number of items.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

I am going to move on to my final area and I will -- I think these questions are probably for you, Mr. Reeve, and I will caution you we're in an area that I have exactly zero expertise, so I may ask you to bear with me on a few things.

I have some questions on the impact statement with regard to pensions and OPEB.  First of all, is this the correct panel for those questions?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you're the man?

MR. REEVE:  To the extent that it deals with changes from what we submitted, absolutely.  If we get into the realm of variance and deferral accounts, I might defer to my fellow experts on that panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  We will see where we get.

MR. REEVE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  So I am asking questions largely with regard to the impact statement, which is filed as Exhibit N, tab 1, schedule 1.

And just to provide the background to this, there were three elements identified in the impact statement, one of which was changes to pension and OPEB costs; is that correct?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  OPEB is -- what does OPEB stand for?

MR. REEVE:  Other post-employment benefits.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. REEVE:  An example would be health and dental benefits that are provided after an employee has ceased to work with our company, so upon retirement.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And what the impact statement tells us is there's been a fairly significant change in costs there, to the total tune of about $264 million?

I am looking at page 3 of the impact statement.

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that this change is driven either entirely or almost entirely by updated discount rates; is that correct?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  You've got two principal drivers here.  One is the discount rate, which is -- the changes are actually described on the preceding page.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. REEVE:  If you look at -- so we're still on N1-T1-S1, page 2 of 4.  You can see that it is in the paragraph from lines 18 to 25, where it talks about the decline in discount rates.  So pension and OPEB being a present value concept, if discount rates are going down, then generally that means the liability is increasing.  So that is one of the drivers.

The secondary driver, which is to an extent offsetting, is how the fund assets are performing.  That is only relevant for the registered pension plan.  And we're actually seeing an improvement in fund performance.  That is largely based on where we were at the end of last year, the end of 2009, and that has an offsetting impact, because it means the returns that we expect to get from the funds will be higher than what we had previously forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  For the benefit of the uninitiated, by which I mean myself, can you explain how lower discount rates result in higher projected costs, just very quickly?

MR. REEVE:  I will try and keep this relatively simple.

So the obligation that we have for pension and OPEB costs is really for what we anticipate to be the service life of employees, and it is really a future benefit that we expect to provide many years in the future.

There are many assumptions that go into the derivation of that liability.  It is based on the number of years we expect employees, on average, to work.  It is based on mortality tables in terms of how long we think employees will -- sorry to be morbid, but how long they will live post retirement, and there are a number of other factors.

I can point you in the evidence where these assumptions are described, but basically all of those future cash flows, if you will, are estimated, and we require the help of actuaries to do that.  It is quite an involved calculation.  And because really what you're doing is looking at a number of cash flows that happen in the future, if you have a discount rate that changes, it means that you are -- when you bring those future cash flows back to a current period, then typically a higher discount rate means the obligation is lower than if you have a lower discount rate, if that helps.

MR. MILLAR:  It does, and thank you for humouring me with that.

You mentioned that you get assistance from actuaries, and, indeed, when you look on page 2 at line 25, it states:
"The updated estimates of discount rates were provided by external actuaries."

Now, but I want to be clear on who actually sets the discount rate.

Do you simply take the number given to you by the actuaries, or is this a number that OPG is responsible for either determining or setting?

MR. REEVE:  Ultimately, it is OPG's responsibility to set the discount rate.  There is some discussion - I am just trying to turn it up for you - in "Assumptions and Budget Setting For Pensions and OPEB Costs", which is F4-T3-S1, starting at page 21.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. REEVE:  F4-T3-S1.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. REEVE: Page 21, section 6.3.2.  There really are two calculations that we do.  The one that I have pointed you to is the one that underpins the application.  It was a forecast of what we thought our costs would be in the 2011 and 2012 years.

Ultimately, what we record for accounting purposes will be based on whatever the valuation is at the end of the year.  So come December 31st, 2010, that will shape the actual costs for accounting that we will book for 2011 and 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. REEVE:  To your question in terms of how much subjectivity there is, we take the discount rates that we receive from the independent actuaries.  Really what we do is we assess whether there has been any unusual market activity, and then we might make an adjustment for that activity.  And that is described going into page 22 in lines 1 through 5.  So that is F4-T3, schedule 1.

And you will see there in line 3:
"Discount rates used for projections may be adjusted by a maximum of 25 basis points..."


What I can tell you is that for purposes of the application, we did not deviate from what we received from our actuaries, and the same is true of the impact statement.

So we took the rates provided by actuaries.  We deem there to be -- we didn't have better information, if you will, to deviate from that rate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So just to be clear, ultimately it is OPG's responsibility to --


MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  -- set and determine the discount rate.  You received independent advice from an actuary, and you went with the numbers they gave you?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And is that the Mercer letter or mini report?  Is that the evidence we're talking about?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.  And I will give you an exhibit.  It is H1-3-1, attachment 1.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And you will see -- I saw that, as well.  Their numbers match here.

So, essentially, do we call this a letter or is it a report?  I will call it a letter unless you insist that it is a report.

MR. REEVE:  Sure.  It informed the derivation of our impact statement.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And this would be the totality of the evidence you based your decision upon to adjust the discount rates?

MR. REEVE:  Yes, for the discount rates.

MR. MILLAR:  So there is nothing more?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You didn't look at any other sources to inform your own judgment?

MR. REEVE:  No.  We based our discount rate on what we received from Mercer.  There was no other information that would suggest we should deviate from that.

MR. MILLAR:  And the letter is dated -- it is October 8th; is that right?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So I take it those are the dates for their presumed discount rates, is that... I don't see any indication that they are from a different time period, so presumably, they are current as of October 8th?

MR. REEVE:  Really, what the impact statement captures is an estimate of where we think discount rates will be at the end of the year.  That informs the calculation of pension and OPEB expense for '11 and '12.

I was just looking for the reference.  I would have to check, but I believe it was the discount rates at the end of August.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Now, you just discussed the number you used for 2010 will be whatever is in place January 1st, 2011; is that right?  Did I hear you say that?

MR. REEVE:  December 31st, 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm a day off.  Thank you for that.

Indeed, Mercer referenced that.  If you are looking at H1, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 1, appendix B, you will see there is a number of square bullet points.

Under the first one, I think it is the second sentence, it says as much:

"The actual discount rate for 2011 and 2012 expense will not be known until December 31st, 2010, and December 31st, 2011 respectively."

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So these are the -- the discount rates we have been presented with here are a point-in-time calculation; is that right?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.  And they're intended as the best information we had at the time to inform where we think the discount rate would be at the end of the year.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, it is the best information you have now; right?  It is not the best information you had when you originally filed your application?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  We have the benefit of many more months of looking at what has happened with discount rates.

MR. MILLAR:  And presumably, in three months you might have different numbers; is that fair as well?

MR. REEVE:  That is what it says, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Okay.

On the discount rates, sticking with that, I have already asked you this, I think, but you are not planning on filing any further updates on what the discount rate might be?

MR. REEVE:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you stated this is all you have -- this is all that you have looked at.

You didn't look at a range of possible discount rates.  I think I have asked you this, but I just want to be clear.

You didn't look to any other sources?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  What we're trying to do here is have the best available information at the point that we did the estimate, and the discount rate can continue to change.

The discount rate that we used is really shaped by generally accepted accounting principles; that tells you what kind of discount rate that we should use.  It is consistent with what we've done in terms of obtaining that sort of information from our actuaries.

So it was the best that we had at the time.

MR. MILLAR:  "At the time" being October 8th?

MR. REEVE:  Based on end of August discount data.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Sticking with the same page on appendix B, H1, tab 1, schedule 1 attachment 1, appendix B, again, under that same square bracket, the last –- I guess it's two sentences state:

"With respect to the discount rates, we note that the Canadian Institute of Actuaries is scheduled to release an educational note on methods for determining discount rate to use for reporting under CICA 3461 in the latter part of 2010, which may result in a change to the method used to determine OPG's discount rates under CICA 3461.  As instructed, we have not made any allowance for any possible changes to discount rates as a result of the CICA educational note."

Do you see that?

MR. REEVE:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it it was OPG that instructed them, your actuaries, not to have regard to this educational note?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.  As you read, it is an educational note that is scheduled to be released.  Our best information is that we won't have that before the end of the year, and therefore it is really:  Here is something that could have an impact.

But we made the determination not to include it, because we don't anticipate that to be in place before the end of the year.

MR. MILLAR:  So this would be another element of uncertainty, though; is that fair to say?

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You have taken a point-in-time calculation.  There may be –- obviously, the economy will do whatever the economy does.  But in addition to that, there is this educational note that could have some impact on how an --


MR. REEVE:  It could, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

As far as you know, has this educational note been issued?  I take it it hasn't?

MR. REEVE:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  With reference to the OPEB costs, it might be helpful here to turn to the impact statement itself, page 3 of 4.

This is the chart we had a look at.  Yes, there it is.

MR. REEVE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You will see there is OPEB costs, and if you total up the numbers at the bottom, the increase I get to about $75.9 million; is that about right?

MR. REEVE: Can you repeat that number, please?

MR. MILLAR:  $75.9 million.  I have just added up the --


MR. REEVE:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I see in about 2-point font underneath the chart, it says:
"Supplementary pension plan costs are included in OPEB costs."

Is that right?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  What are supplementary pension costs, or supplementary pensions?

MR. REEVE:  So supplementary pensions are in essence an extension of the registered pension plan.  They cover certain employees within OPG, but they're not like the registered pension plan.  They're not funded by a pension fund, per se.

They're underpinned by a line of credit.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand the reason for this is these are pensions that are more generous than the normal pension; is that right?

MR. REEVE: I don't know if I would use the word "generous".  I would say that I think they are incremental to the --


MR. MILLAR:  They're on top of the ordinary pension?

MR. REEVE:  That's my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Which type of people?  Who at OPG is entitled to these supplementary pensions?

MR. REEVE:  I don't know the specifics of who explicitly within the company, but I would envisage it would be more likely to be those individuals who have been with the company for longer, on higher income.

That would be my guess, but I would have to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Would these be union staff or would these be entirely management folks?

MR. REEVE:  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

What might affect the change in the pension value regarding supplementary pensions?  Why would those go up?

MR. REEVE:  It would -- I would imagine it would be the same drivers as the factors that impact pension costs.  So discount rates.

What you are not going to have is an impact to fund assets, because as I mentioned, there aren't assets explicitly held for the supplementary pension plan.

So the main driver will be discount rates.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Have the cash -- the actual cash costs paid to retirees for OPEBs changed materially since May 2010?

MR. REEVE:  Yes, they have.

MR. MILLAR:  And have the actual pension funding payments made by OPG changed materially in say the last -- changed material... materially changed in the last five years?

MR. REEVE:  Are you asking specifically about OPG's contribution to the pension plan?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. REEVE:  Yes.  The last five years?  I believe I would have to check.  They have been relatively stable since the last funding valuation, which was done in 2008, January 1, 2008.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, I am a complete novice at this, but I understand that pension expenses are recorded differently on your financial statements.  What you see on your financial statement is not necessarily what you actually paid out; is that correct?

MR. REEVE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  To follow up on the question I just asked you, I will ask for an undertaking, and what I am going to ask for is if you could provide a table for the last five years, comparing the registered pension plan funding payments actually made in each year, by the company, compared with the annual registered pension plan accounting accrual recorded in the financial statements for OPG.  Are you able to provide that?

MR. REEVE: It would probably be an extension of interrogatory L-1-85, which is a Board interrogatory, which did provide the cash contributions.  So I think what you are asking for is another line that would show the updated information for contributions and expense; correct?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.

MR. REEVE:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is for OPG corporate.  Undertaking J10.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.14: TO PROVIDE FOR OPG CORPORATE UPDATED INFORMATION FOR CONTRIBUTIONS AND EXPENSE AS REFERENCED IN BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY L-1-85.

MR. MILLAR:  And I just have one final question or short series of questions.  I understand that Hydro One and OPG use similar variables to forecast their OPEBs and pensions.  Would you accept that?

MR. REEVE:  I don't know which actuaries are used by Hydro One.  I would envisage that their rates would be comparable.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You are aware that Hydro One has just completed the oral part of their rates proceeding?

MR. REEVE:  I am aware there was a hearing going on, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you aware they did not request a change similar to the one that you are requesting here today?

MR. REEVE:  I think the way in which Hydro One recovers pension and other post-employment benefits expense is a little bit different from what we have included in our application.

We recover pension and OPEB expense based on accounting, based on generally accepted accounting principles.

I understand Hydro One is, as I am sure you are aware, a little bit different.  I don't believe they follow exactly that model.

MR. MILLAR:  Personally, I am actually not quite aware.  So are you able to describe the difference?

MR. REEVE:  I don't know specifically.  I know one is on a cash basis of recovery and one is accounting.  I just can't remember which one is which.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I wonder if you could pull out volume 5 of the transcripts, and I would like to take you to page 98.

I had asked Mr. Pasquet whether or not any of the expense at Pickering B for the continued operations could be capitalized, and he explained to me why it wouldn't be capitalized.  If you look at the bottom of page 98, for example, I am going to paraphrase what I think that he told me.

I think what he was telling me - and on page 99 - was that because it is not -- the project isn't a definite, first of all, that it would go ahead, and, secondly, whether or not this would extend the life or not, that it couldn't be capitalized, but it may turn out down the road that it would be capitalized.  Is that correct?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  So what I am trying to understand, I have difficulty understanding why your treatment of Darlington is different than the treatment for Pickering B, because, in my mind, Darlington, previous panels testified, that that refurbishment isn't a given, that it still will have a go/no-go decision.

So I am trying to understand why two different treatments.

MR. REEVE:  So Mr. Pasquet's testimony was really talking about the two factors that you had paraphrased there, and it is really looking at the nature of the expenditures.  And there is no certainty at this point that we will get continuing operations from Pickering B.

And perhaps it is easier to think about the nature of the expenses, the more maintenance, inspection type work.  Until we have completed that work, we are not in a position to say, yes, we are going to get -- with the requisite level of certainty required for accounting, we are going to get continued life.

So at this point, we think it is appropriate not to capitalize Pickering B continued operations expenditures.

If we get to 2012 and we have completed the various studies and the various regulatory steps and have a greater level of certainty that we can achieve that, then we would look at whether those expenditures could be capitalized at that point.

MS. HARE:  Why isn't Darlington then treated the same way, because that is not a certainty that that project is going to go forward and that the plant will have another 30 years?

MR. REEVE:  So I think from a Darlington perspective, as you heard from the panel, we have a high confidence that we can complete the project within a certain LUEC range for accounting.  We have entered the definition phase of Darlington and that, for us, is really the trigger as to whether we can achieve the additional life.

So for Darlington, what we're saying is the expenditures that we are now incurring - and we discussed the various types of expenditures - we do have a high confidence that we can get the additional years of life out of Darlington.

We don't have the same level of confidence for accounting that we can for Pickering B.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Spoel?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  I have a question that comes out of -- the reference is from Mr. Shepherd's compendium, Exhibit K3.2, and the chart he took you to in the "Cost Plan - OM&A Cost Savings", which you spent a little bit of time talking about the lower labour burden rate and impact of new labour rates.

It is page 16.  It's the nuclear business plan, I guess, page 16.

And I had another question about that page.  I am not sure you really need to turn it up, because it is more at a general level, my question.

Last week, when Ms. Irvine was testifying, she had an exchange with Mr. Stephenson about the increase, the 4 percent proposed or budgeted increase, for labour costs, of which 3 percent was made up of increases in the -- pursuant to the collective agreements, and the other 1 percent was for promotions and moving up the grid, if I can sort of put it in those general terms.

And so I am wondering how you can reconcile an impact of new labour rates that shows savings, when her evidence was that there is going to be increases in those rates.  And maybe there is a simple explanation, but I am not sure I understand it.

MR. HALPERIN:  I think it is a simple explanation.  I hope it is a simple explanation.

This table in the nuclear business plan is a plan-over-plan comparison.  So it is comparing the differences between the previous nuclear plan and the current one.

Both of those would have had escalation built into the numbers.  This is simply identifying any differences in the rates that may have come out

MS. SPOEL:  So this is compared to what it would have been if you hadn't redone the plans?

MR. HALPERIN:  That's correct.  Whereas Ms. Irvine --


MS. SPOEL:  No.  That explains it.  That's great.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And I am going to take you back, again, to this question of the treatment of Darlington and comparing it to Pickering B.

So as I understand it, because the Darlington refurbishment project has entered the definition phase, that is the basis upon which, for accounting purposes, you start capitalizing and recognizing the impacts, in terms of service life and depreciation and all of the consequential impacts; is that correct?

MR. REEVE:  Correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And perhaps I should remember all of the details from the Pickering B testimony, but I don't at the moment.

So the state of that project, is that not also in definition phase or beyond, because they're actually starting to do the work, as well?  I guess I am trying to understand, what is the difference in the phase or stage at which these two projects are at?

MR. REEVE:  I can't talk to where we are with the Pickering B continued operations.

I mean, one factor is the level of confidence that we have.  The other is whether we meet the criteria.

From reading the transcripts for the Pickering B discussion, my understanding is the nature of the expenses are not eligible for capitalization.

So part of it is, for Darlington, more the entering the definition phase.  We have capital -- expenditures that are eligible for capitalization for Pickering B.  I am just not sure where we are in terms of the project itself.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, fair enough.

Now, with respect to Darlington and perhaps comparing it with any other project, is that -- would you, in all cases, begin to capitalize expenditures when a project entered definition phase?

MR. REEVE:  So in the -- for regulated operations, I would say that is fair, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are our questions.  Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I have no redirect, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  The panel is excused, with the Board's thanks.  Thank you very much.

I understand you would like to call forth the panel 8 and have them sworn, so that we get that taken care of today?  Is that --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I understand, as well, that from --I won't be doing that panel.  In actual fact, I think my role from now to the end of the hearing is over, at least from the hearing room.

Mr. Smith is going to be taking forward the cost of capital panel.  He does have a short direct, I believe which he has chatted to Board counsel about, and others.

So I am not sure whether or not you want that to start today, given the closeness to 4:30 or...

MS. CHAPLIN:  How long will that be?

MR. KEIZER:  If I could just have one moment.

MS. CHAPLIN:  He is back there, if you want to...

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.

[Witness panel withdraw]

MR. KEIZER:  It would probably be about 15 minutes.  It may be better just to start fresh, when everybody is fresh in the morning, and then just...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. DeRose, would you like to hear the direct examination, or are you content to wait until tomorrow morning?

And Mr. Rubin and Mr. Buonaguro, I guess, if you have --


MR. DeROSE:  I am content to wait until tomorrow morning, unless for some reason you feel the need to go another 15 minutes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  We are fine for tomorrow.  I think, as it turns out, Mr. Alexander is starting tomorrow, and he has an estimate of, I am guessing, two to three hours.

So he may want to hear it before he starts his cross tomorrow.  He is not here today, so he would have to read the transcript tonight or hear it fresh tomorrow.  But I am indifferent.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, I am getting some agitation here from my colleagues.

[Laughter]

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I think what we will do is we will adjourn for today, and we will deal with it tomorrow morning.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:29 p.m.
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